WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE

# Measuring changes in bioavailability of artemisinin

in combination with flavonoids, phenolic acids, and monoterpene found in Artemisia annua

A Major Qualifying Project Report Submitted to the faculty of Worcester Polytechnic Institute In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science in Biology & Biotechnology (PZW-AAKY)

By

Garnet, Ariel Shaunna

Pacifico, Antoinette Carmela

Reed, Kirsten Noel

4/30/2015

Approved:

Dr. Pamela J. Weathers, MQP Advisor

This report represents the work of WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of completion of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on its website without editorial or peer review. For more information about the projects program at WPI, please see http://www.wpi.edu/academics/ugradstudies/project-learning.html

### Abstract

Malaria, the fifth leading cause of disease by infectious agents, has claimed the lives of approximately 584,000 people while posing a risk to 3.2 billion more worldwide, according to latest global estimates (World Health Organization, 2014). Artemisinin is a potent antimalarial found in *Artemisia annua* and is currently used in combination with other antimalarial drugs (artemisinin combination therapy; ACT), mainly against the infectious *Plasmodium* parasites. The use of artemisinin and its derivatives in ACT is currently the WHO recommended treatment for malaria, but is relatively expensive to many endemic regions. Artemisinin resistance in the *Plasmodium* parasite has recently developed, decreasing the potency of ACT, and initiated the search for alternative treatments. *A. annua* dried leaves taken orally has been found to be more efficacious than ACT, perhaps due to increased bioavailability of artemisinin.

In this current project, a Caco-2 intestinal model was used to test changes in the bioavailability of artemisinin. The experiments were performed to simulate the effects of specific phytochemicals (at various concentrations) on artemisinin transport from the intestinal lumen into the serum. Sixty minute transport studies were analyzed across the monolayer at fifteen minute intervals, comparing artemisinin transport in combination with two flavonoids (quercetin and rutin), two phenolic acids (chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid), and one monoterpene (camphor). Of all the performed transports, only camphor (at a 1:10 molar ratio to artemisinin) showed a significant increase in artemisinin transport compared to the transport of artemisinin alone. Additionally, artemisinin transport across Caco-2 monolayers was found to vary with artemisinin concentration.

## Acknowledgements

Our team would like to extend our most sincere thankfulness to the following persons, whom supported us continuously throughout the completion of this project. To our advisor, Dr. Pamela Weathers, we are beyond grateful for the wisdom, guidance, and sponsorship that was offered throughout the year. Her expertise and enthusiasm for the subject matter made this experience truly unforgettable. Our amplified professional biological skills in regards to the laboratory, writing, and presentation work can be attributed to her relentless dedication. We would like to thank Dr. Melissa Towler, a vital member to the lab team, for her abundant laboratory advice, as well as the countless hours she spent conducting the GC/MS analysis for our experiments. Likewise, we thoroughly appreciate Matt Desrosiers for operating our GC/MS analysis, as well as his ongoing devotion towards our project. He was an excellent resource and aided us towards achieving project goals by providing extensive training and counseling in cell culture, general laboratory technique, and experimentation. Finally, we would like to thank the other members of the laboratory for attentively watching our presentations and for providing feedback and criticism where necessary: Liwen Fei, Sarah Fortin, Victoria Melchert, Thalita Cervezan, Sibo Wang, Hailey Cambra, and Dr. Abdul Mannan. This project would not have progressed thus far, if it were not for these individuals, all of which went out of their way for our improvement and ultimately, our success. Again, we thank you.

## **Table of Contents**

1.0 Introduction and Background	6
1.1 Malaria	6
1.1.1 Malaria Treatments and Parasite Drug Resistance	9
1.2 Current Malaria Treatments	10
1.3 Plant-Based Artemisinin Combination Therapy	15
1.4 Composition of Artemisia annua	20
1.5 Digestion and Drug Metabolism	
1.6 Caco-2 Model System for Transport Experiments	27
1.7 Intestinal Transport of Flavonoids	29
1.8 Intestinal Transport of Phenolic Acids	29
1.9 Intestinal Transport of Monoterpenes	30
2.0 Aims and Hypotheses	32
3.0 Methods	33
3.1 Materials	33
3.2 Caco-2 Cell Culture	33
3.3 Measuring Transepithelial Electrical Resistance	34
3.4 Transport Donor Solutions	34
3.5 Transepithelial Transport Experiments and Extractions	37
3.6 Analysis of Artemisinin and Deoxyartemisinin	37
3.7 Statistical Methods	38
4.0 Results	39
4.1 Transepithelial Electrical Resistance Validation of Caco-2 Monolayer Integrity	39
4.2 Effect of Flavonoids	40
4.3 Effect of Phenolic Acids	42
4.3.1 Chlorogenic Acid Concentration Series	44
4.4 Effect of Monoterpenes	45
4.5 Apparent permeability value	47
4.6 Analysis of Artemisinin Donor Well Solutions	50
5.0 Discussion	51

6.0 Conclusions and Future work	
7.0 References	59
8.0 Appendices	72
Appendix A: Additional Introductory and Background Material	
Appendix B: Methods	74
Appendix C: Supplemental Results, Figures and Tables	

## 1.0 Introduction and Background

#### 1.1 Malaria

Malaria is a life-threatening illness, which strains economic growth and reproduction in endemic regions. Globally, it is the fifth leading cause of disease by infectious agents (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010). The disease is caused by *Plasmodium* parasites, the most deadly strain being *P. falciparum*, which is transmitted to humans through the bite of an infected mosquito. Other strains that cause malaria in humans include *P. vivax*, *P. malariae*, and *P. ovale*. Latest global estimates from December 2014 confirmed 198 million cases (uncertainty range from 124 to 283 million) and 584,000 deaths (uncertainty range from 367,000 to 755,000) in 2013 were attributed to this disease. Of the many deaths associated with malaria, approximately 78%, were African children under the age of 5. Currently, 3.2 billion people world-wide are at risk of becoming infected with malaria. Risk extends into all 6 of WHO's territories, where 1.2 billion are at high risk, which is described as greater than a 1 in 1000 chance of contracting the disease (World Health Organization, 2014).

One of the most influential risk factors in contracting malaria is human behavior, specifically social and economic factors, surrounding the disease. In many poverty-stricken regions where malaria is endemic, there is often a lack of access to adequate housing or preventative equipment against mosquitos, lack of knowledge against disease, and cultural objection against treatments that leave the citizens vulnerable to infection (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). Agricultural methods frequently foster mosquito habitats by generating pools of standing water, and supplying secondary blood meal sources including farm animals. Together these conditions entice greater populations of mosquitoes to those areas. Lastly, human activities such as war, migration, and travel expose otherwise healthy, non-immune individuals to areas where malarial transmission is high (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). Interestingly, individuals with the sickle cell trait are relatively protected against *P. falciparum* and those with a negative Duffy blood group are resistant to *P. vivax* infection (Friedman, 1978; Langhi & Bordin, 2006).



Figure 1: Life cycle of the malaria parasite in the human and mosquito hosts (National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, 2012)

The life cycle of malaria begins after an infected, female *Anopheles* mosquito bites and injects sporozoites into the blood stream (Figure 1; National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, 2012). The sporozoites then invade liver cells where they continue to mature and divide for a period of 5-16 days. Afterwards, the parasites invade red blood cells where they reproduce as merozoites and also form gametocytes. Symptoms are seen in humans approximately 10 to 15 days after the initial mosquito bite.

Malaria cases are typically categorized as uncomplicated or severe (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010). Uncomplicated malaria is usually characterized by an episode of 6-10 hours consisting of a cold stage (chills, shivering), a hot stage (fevers, headaches, vomiting), and a sweating stage (sweats, fatigue, tiredness). It is important to keep in mind that this disease is entirely treatable as long as timely and appropriate treatment is administered. In severe malaria, there is organ failure, abnormalities in blood, and/or afflictions with metabolism (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010). If the brain becomes infected, cerebral malaria results in symptoms of seizures, paralysis, epilepsy, and other neurological impairments. Of cerebral malaria survivors, 5-20 % may develop permanent disabilities due to brain damage (Breman et al., 2001). Respiratory and renal systems also may be targeted, resulting in acute respiratory distress syndrome and kidney failure, respectively. Blood complications may include severe anemia, hemoglobinuria (blood in urine), and coagulation irregularities (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010). In metabolism, metabolic acidosis (high acidity in blood and organs) and hypoglycemia (low blood glucose) may occur in patients. To prevent fatality, patients experiencing severe malaria must seek immediate, dynamic medical care.

Besides the burden of illness and death, malaria can have secondary burdens including changes in household roles, deficits in education, migration, treatment expenditures, and forgone incomes. Malaria may be responsible for as much as 50% of medically-related school absences, including loss of 11% of school days in primary school, and 4.3% of secondary school days. Cognitive deficiencies from cerebral malaria brain damage, including inability to carry out executive functions, can also lead to educational deficits (Sachs & Malaney, 2002).

Increased preventative measures and the use of standard drug combination treatments have resulted in the decrease of worldwide malaria (Bhattarai et al., 2007). Safety measures include vector control, insecticide-treated mosquito nets (ITN) and sprays, chemoprevention (preventing blood stage infections in humans), and case management. Control and elimination efforts totaled 2.7 billion dollars in 2013, but most notably reached three times that in 2005 (World Health Organization, 2014). Since 2013, artemisinin-based combination therapies (ACTs) have been adopted in 79 of the 88 countries endemic to *P. falciparum* (World Health Organization, 2014). Although mortality rates from malaria have decreased globally by 47% since 2000, the disease still remains a devastating problem in many regions of the world including Africa, Asia, and South America (Figure 2; World Health Organization, 2014).



Figure 2: Countries with ongoing transmission of malaria, 2013 (World Health Organization, 2014)

#### **1.1.1 Malaria Treatments and Parasite Drug Resistance**

Many of the current malaria treatments are derived from plants that originated in several countries around the world. In Peru and Bolivia, cinchona tree bark was a treatment for fevers, a common symptom of malaria. Cinchona bark was brought to Europe and in 1820, the antimalarial, quinine, was extracted. Upon synthesizing derivatives of quinine, pharmaceutical chloroquine, a 4-aminoquinoline, was introduced to the public (Faurant, 2001; Petersen, et al., 2011). Chloroquine is absorbed efficiently when taken orally and has a relatively low safety margin in regards to dosage administration (World Health Organization, 2001).

In the past, pharmaceutical quinine derivatives, such as chloroquine and amodiaquine, were used to treat malaria. Although these drugs are currently used less because drug resistance has increased, they may still be used in some regions where patients have acquired partial immunity through recurrent malaria incidence, such as in Africa. Although chloroquine mechanisms of action are not fully understood, the drug is thought to accumulate in the parasite's digestive vacuole, inhibiting the parasite's degradation of hemoglobin. This allows free floating heme to poison the parasite, resulting in a permeable outer membrane and eventual parasite death (Petersen, et al., 2011).

Antimalarial drug resistance is defined as the ability of a parasite strain to survive and/or divide regardless of a specific drug's recommended dosage (World Health Organization, 2001). In the 1900s, *Plasmodium* parasites started becoming resistant to chloroquine, causing severe symptoms and high mortality rates among those infected (Petersen, et al., 2011; Gasasira et al., 2003). Initial overuse of chloroquine not only as an anti-malarial, but as a miracle drug to treat all afflictions, may have contributed to this resistance (Faurant, 2001). The drug's long half-life of 60 days is another factor possibly contributing to resistance, because it allows extended parasite exposure to sub-therapeutic drug concentrations. Specifically, mutations in the parasite's chloroquine-resistant transporter gene (MAL7P1.27), which encodes for a transmembrane protein in the digestive vacuole, prevents chloroquine from accumulating (Petersen, et al., 2011). Despite cases of resistance, chloroquine is still used in some regions to fight against *P. vivax* infections (World Health Organization, 2014).

Eventually, sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine was used as a replacement for chloroquine. A study in Uganda found that this drug was very effective in terms of parasite and clinical symptom clearance when combined with amodiaquine (Gasasira et al., 2003). Coulibaly et al. (2002) showed that sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine treated uncomplicated malaria with a greater than 99% efficacy, while chloroquine treatments resulted in 85-90% efficacy. The study further reiterated sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine as a dose-dependent drug that has been approved as a second-line treatment defense against malaria.

#### **1.2 Current Malaria Treatments**

Artemisinin, a sesquiterpene trioxane lactone, is a unique and highly effective antimalarial compound that was isolated in 1972 from the annual plant *Artemisia annua*. (Figure 3; Christen & Veuthey, 2001; van Agtmael et al., 1999). Originally native to China, *A. annua* has been used in Chinese traditional medicine for thousands of years in herbal tea infusions to treat fever and chills associated with malaria (World Health Organization, 2006; Mueller et al, 2004). Furthermore, artemisinin has been known to exhibit prophylaxis as reported by Ogwang et al.

(2011). Ugandans who ingested *A. annua* tea weekly saw an 80% decrease in malaria symptoms compared to those not regularly drinking the tea.



**Figure 3: Artemisinin structure** 

Artemisinin, was publically introduced in 1979 (Carbonara el al., 2012; Li & Zhou, 2010). It has a very short half-life of 2-5 hours, indicative of low prophylactic properties as well as low resistance and high permeability across the blood-brain barrier; all of which makes it a good drug for treating cerebral malaria (de Vries & Dien, 1996; Petersen et al., 2011; Augustijns et al., 1996; Niu et al., 1985). Artemisinin derivatives are commonly used in place of artemisinin because they have increased solubility in either water or oil and thus, increased antimalarial properties (Golenser et al., 2006; World Health Organization, 2001). These artemisinin derivatives may include artether, artemether, artesunate, and dihydroartemisinin (Figure 4; World Health Organization, 2012).



Figure 4: Artemisinin and derivatives (World Health Organization, 2012)

Structurally, artemisinin and its derivatives are similar, containing an endoperoxide bridge that plays an essential role in specific and non-specific mechanisms of action against the malarial parasite (Carbonara el al., 2012; Li & Zhou, 2010; World Health Organization 2006). The endoperoxide bridge is cleaved by iron in the parasite's digestive vacuole, producing carbon radicals, which have a negative effect on endocytosis of *P. falciparum*, as well as on parasite hemoglobin digestion (Li & Zhou, 2010; Eastman & Fidock, 2009).

Other mechanisms of action for artemisinin and its derivatives may include interference with parasite transport proteins, disruption of mitochondrial function, modulation of host immune function, and inhibition of angiogenesis (blood cell formation) (Golenser et al., 2006). Inhibition of nutrient uptake and prevention of parasite attack on red blood cells represent some of the artemisinin mechanisms of action against P. falciparum (Hoppe et al., 2004). Additionally, artemisinin inhibits the function of the Kelch 13 (K13) protein on the propeller domain in P. *falciparum*. This protein is important for interactions between protein sites and regulates an array of cellular function in the organism, such as protein degradation and responses to oxidative stress (Adams et al., 2000). Artemisinin disrupts these functions in the organism, allowing for rapid parasite clearance and recovery from malaria (Straimer et al., 2015). The relationship between this protein and artemisinin's mode of action was determined when K13 was identified as the molecular marker for emerging resistance to the drug (Ariey et al., 2014). Thapsigargin, similar in structure to artemisinin, but lacking an endoperoxide bridge, inhibits the sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ -ATPase (SERCA) within the parasite (PfATP6ase) (Eckstein-Ludwig et al., 2003; O'Neill et al., 2010). Without this specialized Ca2+ ATPase, calcium is not appropriately transported throughout the cells of the parasite, leading to problems with protein folding and signaling (Eckstein-Ludwig et al., 2003). After activation by iron, artemisinin binds to the PfATP6 protein in the parasite, inactivating the protein and causing the parasite to die (Jung et al., 2005; O'Neill et al., 2010).

Resistance to pure artemisinin malaria treatment as well as recrudescence, or recurrence, by reinfection poses a great risk (Golenser et al., 2006). Therefore, use of artemisinin-based combination therapy (ACTs) followed the spread of untreatable malaria. ACTs showed fast reduction in parasite biomass and overall clearance, as well as rapid elimination of patient

symptoms and diminution of gametocytes (World Health Organization, 2011). The short half-life of artemisinin derivatives requires coupling with longer half-life antimalarial drugs for enhanced potency and reduced chance for resistance. In 2005, the World Health Organization (WHO) advised that ACT be used as the primary treatment option for patients afflicted by the disease. Such treatment uses a combination of an artemisinin derivative in addition to another antimalarial medication that has proven effective. The artemisinin derivative mainly eliminates *P. falciparum* parasites, and the co-drug, commonly mefloquine amodiaquine, and piperaquine, is used to eliminate any artemisinin-resistant parasites (World Health Organization, 2011).

Unfortunately, however, artemisinin-resistance in *P. falciparum* now is found in Cambodia, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar, Thailand, and Vietnam (Figure 5; World Health Organization, 2014; Straimer et al., 2015). The Thailand-Cambodia border serves as regions of high artemisinin resistance. Based on a survey of patients from two different hospitals, Dondorp et al. (2009) discovered that malaria-stricken patients in western Cambodia took longer to recover from *P. falciparum* after ACT treatment than patients from Thailand.. In attempts to combat *P. falciparum* resistance in the Greater Mekong sub-region, the WHO recognized four priority areas of control: better intervention plan for all-risk groups, stricter case management, more publically-accessible information about resistance, and greater response and support (World Health Organization, 2013).



Figure 5: Areas of high artemisinin resistance in South-East Asia, December 2014 (World Health Organization, 2014)

Ashley et al. (2014) also observed that in regions of resistance, extending the ACT treatment for 6 days (as opposed to 3) allowed for a shorter parasite clearance half-life. Although ACT resistance occurred, prolonged treatment allowed for parasite clearance and gave hope for full patient recovery. These results suggested, however, that eventually additional mutations will likely occur in the parasite and the 6-day treatment plan will also fail (Ashley et al., 2014). Therefore, finding alternative treatment options is becoming important, especially for malaria endemic regions.

Recently, *P. falciparum* has shown some resistance to artemisinin due to mutations on chromosomes 5 and 13 in the parasite. When amplified, the *P. falciparum* multidrug resistance transporter 1 (PFE1150w) located on chromosome 5, reduces the parasite susceptibility to artemisinin (Petersen et al., 2011). More recent studies suggest that artemisinin resistance is caused by point mutations of the PF3D7\_1343700 domain on chromosome 13 encoding a K13 (Kelch 13) protein, which regulates the parasite's propeller (Ariey et al., 2013; Takala-Harrision et al., 2014). Due to this developing artemisinin resistance, some ACTs (dihydroartemisinin–piperaquine, artemether–lumefantrine, artesunate–sulfadoxine–pyrimethamine, and artesunate–mefloquine) have shown low parasite clearance at the current WHO recommended dose (Ashley et al., 2014).

At specific sites in Asia and Africa, patients were given a dose of artesunate for either 1 or 3 days, followed by a 3-day course of ACT (Ashley et al., 2014). Blood samples were taken every 6 hours to determine parasite clearance half-lives, which ranged from 1.9 hours to 7.0 hours. In regions where *P. falciparum* had the kelch13 protein mutation, a longer parasite clearance half-life (length of time for 50% of peripheral blood parasite density to decrease) was observed (Ashley et al., 2014; Straimer et al., 2015). A long drug half-life is indicative of increased resistance, indicating the emergence of parasite resistance to ACT (Petersen et al., 2011).

Further research conducted by Elfawal et al. (2015) showed that consumption of dried *A. annua* leaves could be successful in prolonging artemisinin-resistant *Plasmodium* strains. When *P. chabaudi*-infected mice were given a single dose treatment of either pure artemisinin or powdered dried leaves of *A. annua* at a low (24 mg/kg) or high (120 mg/kg) concentration of

artemisinin, the percentage of parasitized red blood cells was found to be statistically greatest for the high-artemisinin whole plant treatment 16-48 hours post-treatment. Similar parasitemia reduction was seen in mice treated with either the high pure artemisinin or the low whole plant treatment, although lesser than high whole plant. Mice infected with *P. yoelli* and treated with high whole plant treatment for 9 consecutive days displayed complete parasite clearance 14 days post infection, whereas the high pure artemisinin treatment did not clear until 18 days post infection. Delayed artemisinin resistance was also shown in mice infected with *P. chabaudi* when whole plant was administered compared to pure artemisinin (Elfawal et al., 2015). This data gives suggestive evidence that whole *A. annua* leaves may be a feasible and more effective treatment in combating resilient malaria strains.

Viability of ACT has decreased in malaria endemic regions due to this emerging artemisinin resistance, as well as pressures of economic stability. Most people who contract malaria are impoverished, and current antimalarial treatments are not cost effective. In 2007 the WHO conducted a cost benefit analysis in Papa New Guinea evaluating one conventional malaria treatment and 3 ACTs. This study included costs of clinic visits, medications, and tests. The costs of 4 different therapies ranged from 3.93 to 5.19 US dollars (Davis et al., 2011). The average cost of any of the treatments listed amounted to more than 2 days wages according to the GNI data presented by World Bank (Papua, 2014), so for a family with several injections per year, malaria treatment is a major cost burden.

Current ACT therapies are relatively expensive and the populations most affected by malaria outbreaks are in areas that make drug delivery difficult. Additionally, parasite resistance to ACT has spread and the effectiveness of ACTs are likely to decrease. These two factors contribute to the idea that the current approved treatment is not ideal, so low cost, highly effective treatment options need to be explored.

#### **1.3 Plant-Based Artemisinin Combination Therapy**

A. annua contains over 100 secondary metabolites, some of which have reported antimalarial, antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, and cytokine-like activity (Table 1; Carbonara et al.,

2012; de Magalhães et al., 2012). The plant is generally recognized as safe and has been consumed as a tea infusion for over 2,000 years (Duke, 2001). Oral consumption of dried *A. annua* leaves is also effective at reducing parasitemia in a rodent malaria model (Elfawal et al., 2012). Based on prior research, plant-based Artemisinin Combination Therapy (pACT) treatment of malaria can be achieved with dried leaves of *A. annua* (Figure 6; Weathers et al., 2011). Accumulating evidence suggests that pACT may be a viable alternative to ACT in the treatment of malaria (Weathers et al., 2014a).



**Figure 6:** *Artemisia annua* **L. SAM cultivar vegetative form, and tablets from dried leaves.** Much disputed is use of *A. annua* tea; mainly of its inconsistent artemisinin composition and possible under dosage of patients. Some clinical studies have shown that the use of *A. annua* tea alone often provides a significantly lower dosage of the drug, artemisinin, than is suggested for proper eradication of the parasite in a patient (Mueller et al., 2004; Rath et al., 2004; World Health Organization, 2012b). Although, Kenyan human trials showed that lower artemisinin concentration can be efficacious (ICIPE, 2005). Additional factors such as growth, harvesting, storage, and processing have been shown to decrease the amount of artemisinin recovery from the plant. The possibility of sub-therapeutic doses and resistance has deterred the WHO from accepting alternative *A. annua* malarial treatment methods that otherwise have shown promising results (World Health Organization, 2012b).

Compound	IC <sub>50</sub> valu	es (µM)	Reference			
<b>r</b>	CQ sensitive	CQ resistant				
Artemisininic compounds						
Artemisinin	$0.0226 \pm 0.0007$	$.0212 \pm 0023$				
dihydroartemisinic acid	$21.1\pm0.7$	$17.7 \pm 4.2$	Subarry at al. $(2012)$			
arteannuin B	$3.2 \pm 0.1$	$4.8 \pm 0.4$	Suberu et al. (2013)			
artemisinic acid	$77.8 \pm 1.5$	$61.6\pm7.5$				
Monoterpenes						
α-pinene	0.1	ND	Wasthars & Towler(2014)			
eucalyptol (1,8 cineole )	7.0	ND	weathers & Towler(2014)			
camphor	ND	ND				
Phenols						
chlorogenic acid	$69.4\pm6.4$	$61.4 \pm 4.3$	Subaru at al. $(2013)$			
rosmarinic acid	$65.1 \pm 5.0$	$65.0 \pm 7.0$	Suberu et al. (2013)			
Coumarins						
scopoletin	ND	ND				
Flavonoids						
chrysoplenol-D	ND	32				
chrysoplenetin	ND	23	Liu et al (1992)			
eupatorin	ND	65				
artemetin	ND	26	Liu et al (1992)			
casticin	$17.9\pm4.7$	$12.2\pm1.8$	Suberu et al. (2013)			
kaempferol	33 ± 7	$25 \pm 2$				
luteolin	$11 \pm 1$	$12 \pm 1$	Lahane & Saliba (2008)			
myricetin	$40 \pm 10$	$76 \pm 23$				
quercetin	15 ± 5	$14 \pm 1$	1			

**Table 1: Various phytochemicals found in** *A. annua* **SAM.** These phytochemicals inhibit 50% growth in chloroquine sensitive and resistant strains of *P. falciparum* parasites.

In a malaria infected mouse model, pACT effectively cleared parasitemia (Elfawal et al., 2012). The percent parasitemia in a murine model, infected with *P. chabaudi*, was measured post infection until 240-264 hours post-delivery of single oral dose treatments of varying levels of pure artemisinin or equal amounts of artemisinin delivered from *A. annua* whole plant leaves, dried and powdered. The data showed that the lower dose (24 mg/kg) of *A. annua* plant material eradicated the parasitemia in 88% of animals 30 hours post gavage. The higher dose (120 mg/kg) of pure artemisinin had similar parasite clearance to the lower dose of *A. annua*. Recrudescence was greatest in the low *A. annua* leaves dose than from either a high pure drug or *A. annua* dried leaf dose even though all had similar initial parasite clearance (Elfawal et al., 2012). These data implied that *A. annua* was just as effective as pure artemisinin at clearing malaria parasites in a murine model, but longer treatments are necessary to prevent recrudescence.

The therapeutic effects of *A. annua* compressed dried leaf tablets were tested in human malaria patients in Kenya (Table 2; ICIPE, 2005). The study used dried leaves containing 0.74% artemisinin. Each tablet contained 3.7 mg of artemisinin. Four different tablet doses were tested for 6 days in patients assumed to have *P. falciparum*. The highest *A. annua* dose (day 1 = 37 mg/day artemisinin, days 2-6 = 29.6 mg/day artemisinin) cleared parasites in 90.9% of patients by day 28.

In contrast, Giao et al. (2001) used a pure artemisinin treatment of 1,000 mg on the first day, and 500 mg on days 2-7, and only 76% of patients had parasite clearance on day 28 (Table 2; Giao et al., 2001). This percent clearance with artemisinin was similar to that of the lowest dried leaf dose in ICIPE (2005), containing 14.8 mg of artemisinin on day 1 and 7.4 mg on each subsequent day. Even with 27 to 67 fold higher doses of artemisinin, the pure drug showed less effective parasite clearance than the compressed *A. annua* tablets (Table 2).

In humans, Onimus et al. (2013) presented evidence that *A. annua* prevented malaria in postoperative patients. In preparation for surgery, 14 asymptomatic pediatric patients infected with *P. falciparum* were given 2 capsules of *A. annua* leaf powder containing between 0.4 and 0.5 mg of artemisinin per capsule. The first and second days post-surgery, these patients were given 2 more capsules each day, and the third morning after surgery, patients were given 1 capsule. In 11 other patients, the capsules were administered only after surgery in the same manner. Both the 60 and 36 hour treatments prevented the high temperature flare ups associated with malaria which were known to occur in asymptomatic patients during surgical recovery. The leaf powder also conveyed an added antinociceptive benefit.

Comparisons in Table 2 support a similar antimalarial effect of pACT treatment with *A. annua* whole leaf compressed tablets and ACT with artemisinin derivatives. Parasitemia clearance was slightly higher in patients treated with the ACT than with pACT. However, the dose of the artemisinin derivative was much greater in the ACT than the artemisinin in pACT treatment. This suggests that a higher dose of the whole plant compressed tablet may be comparable to the WHO recommended treatment of ACT with artemisinin derivatives. In further support of this,

ICIPE (2005) found, by varying pACT doses, that the clearance of parasites with pACT may be correlated with the dose of plant material.

Malaria treatment	Artemisinin dose (mg)	/derivative	Leaf dr (g/day)	y weight	# of subj.	Total parasite clearance % (day)	Reference			
Compressed whole leaf <i>A. annua</i> tablets	Day 1	Day 2-6	Day 1	Day 2-6			ICIPE (2005)			
	7.4×2	3.7 × 2	2	1	12	75(28)				
	11.1×2	7.4×2	3	2	12	90.9(28)				
	14.8×2 11.1×2		4	3	12	83.3(28)				
	18.5×2	14.8×2	5	4	12	90.9(28)				
Pure artemisinin	Day 1	Days 2-7		1			Giao et al. (2001)			
	500 × 2	500	N/A		227	76(28)				
ACTs	Standard WH	IO rec.	N/A		2741	95(28)	Zwang et al. (2009)			
Artesunate +	<b>600</b> + 750 m	efloquine	N/A	N/A		97(28)	Congpuong et al. (2010)			
Artesunate +	540 + 1350 a	modiaquine	N/A		106	84(42)	Hasugian et al. (2007)			
Dihydroartemisinin +	320 + 2430 p	iperaquine	N/A		114	95.2(42)				

 Table 2: Plasmodium falciparum clearance with Artemisia annua, artemisinin, and various ACTs in human trials

Possibilities for increased antimalarial properties in pACT over ACT, as seen here, are currently being investigated. Weathers et al. (2011) measured artemisinin serum concentration in mice after oral gavage of powdered dried leaves from whole plant *A. annua* and showed that artemisinin was more effective at entering the serum than the pure drug alone. There was a greater than 40-fold increase of artemisinin (Weathers et al., 2011). More recently, Weathers et al. (2014a) showed that ingestion of plant material with artemisinin facilitated a higher artemisinin blood content (2.44 mg/L) than ingesting artemisinin alone (undetectable). *A. annua* artemisinin oral delivery doubled the blood serum level to 4.33 mg/L from that of artemisinin with vegetarian mouse chow, 2.44 mg/L. Those results suggested that the increased artemisinin

serum concentration in mice given oral *A. annua* may be due to synergistic chemicals that occur naturally in the plant and inhibit degradation and/or aid in the transport of artemisinin throughout the process of digestion (Weathers et al., 2014a). Synergistic chemicals have the ability to inhibit or enhance the transport of other compounds, so it is a matter of discovering which compounds facilitate maximal artemisinin bioavailability (Adithan, 2005).

#### 1.4 Composition of Artemisia annua

Within organisms, there are various primary and secondary metabolites (intermediates and products of metabolism) that result from various internal and external cues, and are necessary for isolating amino acids and acquiring vaccines and antibiotics (Boundless, 2014). Primary metabolites are vital to growth, development, reproduction, and regulation of normal body functions of a given organism. Examples of primary metabolites include carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins. Secondary metabolites are organic compounds found necessary for defense, immune response, and pigmentation (Boundless, 2014). Secondary metabolites are grouped based on chemical structure, composition, solubility, or biosynthetic pathway (Crozier et al., 2006). The three main groups are terpenes, phenolics, and nitrogen-containing compounds (Crozier et al., 2006). Terpenes encompass monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, diterpenes, triterpenoids, terpene polymers, and sterols. The class of phenolics includes phenolic acids, coumarins, lignans, flavonoids, tannins, and lignans (Humphrey & Beale, 2006). Alkaloids are common nitrogen-containing phenolic compounds.

*A. annua* is a green, aromatic plant rich in terpenes, phenols, acetylenes, coumarins and flavonoids (Carbonara et al., 2012). The wild type plants generally grow 30-100 cm, but cultivated plants can be as tall as 2 m (Figure 7; World Health Organization, 2006). The plant is ideal for drug production because *A. annua* has versatile growth requirements allowing for easy cultivation in many different types of environments including temperate, cool temperate, and subtropical regions (World Health Organization, 2006).



**Figure 7: A young** *Artemisia annua* **plant viewed from the top.** (taken in Mozambique by Ton Rulkens; Source: http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Natural\_anti-malarial\_(4738072658).jpg)

Also known as annual or sweet wormwood and *qinghao*, *A. annua* has been recently distributed worldwide and naturalized in many countries (Ferreira & Janick, 1995; Willcox et al., 2004). These regions extend into Europe and North America (Klayman, 1993). The *Artemisia* genus belongs to the Compositae or Asteraceae family. The growth cycle of *A. annua* is as follows: seedling, branching, flower-budding, fruiting, and senescence; the length of each phase is greatly affected by cultivation techniques and location (World Health Organization, 2006). The biomass of plant material will continue to increase until just before flower-budding, at which point biomass will decrease until senesced. The optimal growing temperature is 20-25°C and distribution occurs in a wide range from hillsides, forests edges, and wastelands (World Health Organization, 2006). *A. annua* grows well in soil with 4.5-8.5 pH, proper drainage, and optimal nitrogen, phosphate, and potassium. The plant is quite adaptable to both drought and flooding. The range of artemisinin content varies greatly from plant to plant, with the highest amount of artemisinin at 1-2% of dry weight of leaves (World Health Organization, 2006). To yield optimal levels of artemisinin in the plant, weather conditions, cultivation methods, and harvesting techniques must be evaluated.

Artemisinin is manufactured and stored in the glandular secretory trichomes present in *A. annua* (Duke et al., 1994). Concentrations of the antimalarial can vary depending on cultivar, growing conditions, and stage of development, but highest concentrations are just prior to flowering (Towler & Weathers, 2015; Ferraira & Janick, 1995). Glandular trichomes are located on various surfaces of plants, including *A. annua*, such as on the leaves, stems, and floral buds (Kelsey &

Shafizadeh, 1980; Slone & Kelsey, 1985; Ferreira & Janick, 1995). Artemisinin is not the only antimalarial compound present in *A. annua* (Table 1).

Although concentrations of chemicals found in A. annua cultivars vary depending on geographical origin and growing conditions (Cavar et al., 2011), the range of compounds in A. includes at least 28 monoterpenes, 30 sesquiterpenes (including artemisinin), 12 annua triterpeniods/steroids, 36 flavonoids, 7 coumarins, 4 aromatic, 9 aliphatic compounds (Bhakuni et al., 2002). The plant is also rich in phenolics, mainly caffeic acids, that have been found to have a role in enhancing artemisinin solubility and extraction efficiency when used in water, as well as suspected to participate in a wide range of medicinal remedies including hemorrhoids and fevers (Carbonara et al., 2012; de Magalhães et al., 2012). In a study involving plant composition analysis of extracts from dried leaves of A. annua cultivars Bra-BRA, Bra-L, and Lux-L, four phenolic compounds were detected after a water extraction: chlorogenic acid (Bra-BRA: 61 μg/mL, Bra-L: 39 μg/mL, Lux-L: 34 μg/mL), isoquercetin (Bra-BRA: 2.5 μg/mL, Bra-L: 0.9 µg/mL, Lux-L: 1.2 µg/mL), scopoletin (Bra-BRA: 24 µg/mL, Bra-L: 18 µg/mL, Lux-L: 7.6 µg/mL), and rosmarinic acid (Bra-BRA: 566 µg/mL, Bra-L: 243 µg/mL, Lux-L: 73 µg/mL), where chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid (Figure 8) were found to be in the highest quantity (de Magalhães et al., 2012).



Figure 8: Two phenolic acids present in A. annua

Stressful environments, such as drought and pathogens, affect the production of phenolic compounds, so there could be significant variability in quantity among plants (de Magalhães et al., 2012). Weathers & Towler (2014) showed that the composition of plant material changes when dried and processed into tablets affecting the amount of phytochemicals present in the final product. The chlorogenic acid in fresh as well as dried plant material of *A. annua* SAM (both in the form of powder and tablets) revealed that chlorogenic acid was present in all forms of the

plant material, which indicates that if it assists transport, it would do so in all forms, at least in this cultivar (Weathers & Towler, 2014). When preparing dried compressed leaves into compressed tablets, chlorogenic acid initially comprised about 0.6% towards the dry weight of the mature leaves, lost about 90% of weight with drying, but nearly regains its original amount after the tablet is manufactured. Although the amount varied, chlorogenic acid measured in dried and fresh *A. annua* leaves was constant. In compressed dried leaf tablets there was about 5 mg/g dry weight (Weathers & Towler, 2014).

Suberu et al. (2013) studied the antiplasmodial activity of various hot water extracts of *A. annua* on chloroquine resistant and sensitive strains of *P. falciparum*. Rosmarinic acid seemed to synergize with artemisinin at a ratio of 1:3 and to have an IC<sub>50</sub> (the value at which 50% of the parasite viability is decreased) of approximately 65  $\mu$ M (Table 1). This was the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> highest concentration of the phytochemicals present in the *A. annua* SAM cultivar, needed to inhibit growth of CQ resistant and sensitive *P. falciparum*, respectively (Table 1). Rosmarinic acid has low bioavailability as determined by low permeation rate (~0.2  $\mu$ L/cm<sup>2</sup> after 40 min.) and is not susceptible to hydrolysis by intestinal cells, implying that it can stay at relatively high concentration in its native form (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2005; de Magalhães et al., 2012).

Chlorogenic acid, quinic acid (5-caffeoylquinic acid), is a phenolic compound that, when compared to other compounds, is found in relatively large quantities in *A. annua* (Rice-Evans et al., 1996). A relatively large portion of ingested chlorogenic acid (33%) was found to readily absorb into the bloodstream (Olthof et al., 2001). The amount that was not absorbed was found to be excreted mainly through the colon with less into the urine. Based on this information, it is likely that chlorogenic acid has biological effects throughout the body including high antioxidant properties (Olthof et al., 2001; Niggeweg et al., 2004). Chlorogenic acid has also been found to inhibit N-nitrosation reactions *in vitro* (Kono et al., 1995). Nitrosation refers to a reaction in which organic molecules are changed into compounds that are considered to be nitroso derivatives – a NO (nitroso) functional group attached to an organic group (Wang et al., 2002). These reactions typically produce mutations in tissue formation, resulting in cancerous cell accumulation. This research indicates that the presence of chlorogenic acid may also aid in the eradication of malaria, since it is found in *A. annua*. Whether this compound assists the transport

of artemisinin or enhances its antimalarial properties is still unknown. However, chlorogenic acid's powerful nature indicates that it should be explored closely when examining the therapeutic potential of this plant.

Rosmarinic acid has potent antioxidant activities and if present along with other compounds can account for the high antioxidant capacity of many plants (de Magalhães et al., 2012). Rosmarinic acid has inhibited liver damage from bacterial inflammation, inhibited nervous inflammation, and reduced oral inflammation (Qiang et al., 2011). Rosmarinic acid was only found in the budding stage of the *A. annua* SAM cultivar; it was not present in leaf powder or tablets which may indicate that it is burned off in the drying process (Weathers & Towler 2014).

Flavonoids are phytochemicals that contain two aromatic rings linked with a 3-carbon bridge (Figure 9). They function to protect the plant against pathogens and regulate growth. In humans, these compounds have been studied for their anti-inflammatory, antiviral, antioxidant, antitumor and antimicrobial properties (Feng et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2010; Bitis et al., 2010; Chang-Wi & Cheng-Bin, 2014; Xiaowei & D'Souza, 2013). More than 40 flavonoids have been identified in A. annua (Table 2; Ferreira et al., 2010). Of these 40, casticin (Figure 9) and artemetin were shown to decrease the parasite transport mechanism in human and murine malaria (Elford et al., 1987). Lehane & Saliba (2008) studied the antiplasmodial activity of 11 flavonoids found in various plants. Of these 11 flavonoids, kaempferol, myricetin, quercetin, and luteolin are also found in A. annua SAM (Figure 9; Towler & Weathers, 2015). Luteolin had an IC<sub>50</sub> of 12  $\mu$ M in chloroquine resistant P. falciparum (Table 1), which is a median concentration compared to the other phytochemicals present in A. annua SAM. Luteolin inhibits parasite growth by preventing the life cycle from being completed (Lehane & Saliba, 2008). The antimalarial mechanisms of kaempferol, myricetin, and quercetin have not been determined, but they do inhibit 50% of parasite growth at concentrations of 25 µM, 76 µM, and 14 µM, respectively, in chloroquineresistant strains.



Figure 9: Structures of several flavonoids found in A. annua

Elford et al. (1987) used a chloroquine-resistant clone of late ring stage *P. falciparum* to study the antimalarial activity of artemisinin in combination with casticin. In concentrations greater than 10  $\mu$ M, casticin alone had significant antimalarial activity. Artemisinin antimalarial activity was increased 3-5 fold when 5  $\mu$ M of casticin was combined with artemisinin (Elford et al., 1987). Because the concentration of casticin added to artemisinin was less than the IC<sub>50</sub> for casticin, the increased antimalarial activity of artemisinin is most likely due to synergism with casticin, not an addictive effect of casticin's antimalarial activity.

Artemisinic acid and arteannuin B both have antibacterial and antifungal properties and may be found in higher concentrations in some cultivars *A. annua* than artemisinin. Also, essential oils from different plants are similar in composition and are reported to contain antiplasmodial activity (Milhau et al., 1997; Fujisaki et al., 2012). The principle constituents of plant essential oils are hydrophobic and include monoterpenes, some of which are present in *A. annua* (Boyom et al., 2003). The oxygenated monoterpene, camphor, found in *A. annua*, may comprise as much as 43.5% of the chemical content of the essential oil (Juteau et al., 2002). Additionally, Cherneva

et al. (2012) studied the effects of camphor on thymocyte cultured cells finding that camphor increased thymocyte viability at a concentration of 50  $\mu$ g/mL. The thymus is partially responsible for malaria immunity through the production of T-cells (Roberts et al., 1977), so increased thymocyte viability by camphor could reduce recrudescence in *A. annua* treated individuals. Because this monoterpene may comprise a large proportion of the essential oil in *A. annua*, camphor indirectly may contribute to the antimalarial activity of the plant. If camphor has a high bioavailability, as determined in transport through intestinal epithelial cells, low recrudescence rates in whole leaf *A. annua* treatment of malaria may be explained (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Structure of camphor

#### **1.5 Digestion and Drug Metabolism**

Artemisinin has low solubility in water and oil which requires oral or rectal administration (Golenser et al., 2006). Sometimes, oral administration becomes difficult for patients with severe malaria, requiring a water-soluble derivative (artesunate or artelinate) or an oil-soluble derivative (artemether and arteether) of artemisinin, often given through parenteral or intrarectal routes. Artemisinin bioavailability is thwarted by the metabolism of artemisinin in the human liver by the cytochrome P450 enzymes, CYP2C19, CYP3A4, and CYP2B6, where metabolism by CYP2B6 is most prevalent (Svensson & Ashton, 1999). This process is associated with first pass drug metabolism, and converts artemisinin into the secondary metabolites: deoxyartemisinin, deoxydihydroartemisinin, 9,10-dihydrodeoxyartemisinin, and crystal 7 (de Magalhães et al., 2012; Carbonara et al., 2012; Lee & Hufford, 1990). This information is pertinent in accounting for total artemisinin metabolism in the body.

During digestion, maximum absorption takes place in the small intestine. The wall of the small intestine is comprised of a single layer of epithelial cells (enterocytes), and is responsible for monitoring and limiting the absorption of nutrients and drugs (Hubatsch et al., 2007). There are four modes of transport of compounds across enterocytes into serum. These include: passive transcellular, passive intracellular, carrier-mediated, and transcytosis (Figure 2; Artursson et al., 1996). Passive transcellular transport is used by drugs that are hydrophilic and distribute readily into the cell membranes of the intestinal epithelium. Hydrophobic drugs have an incomplete and slow diffusion across intestinal epithelium, which necessitates passage through the water-filled pores of the passive intracellular transport (Artursson et al., 1996). When compounds mimic the structure of essential nutrients (e.g. amino acids, sugars, and peptides), the compound is actively transported using carrier-mediation by cellular carrier proteins (dipeptide carriers and P-glycoprotein). An example of carrier-mediation would be the sodium potassium pump. Transcytosis is also an active transport mechanism that usually occurs via membrane vesicles with macromolecules, such as insulin and transferrin.

In transport studies, an apparent permeability value ( $P_{app}$ ) is often calculated in order to compare the results from different experiments. In 1996, Augustijns et al. conducted an experiment to measure the transport permeability of artemisinin, using a Caco-2 cell system, and obtained a  $P_{app}$  value of 30.4 X 10<sup>6</sup> cm/s at 37°C. When sodium azide was added, artemisinin transport was not affected indicating that the transport mechanism was likely not active transport, but instead probably passive transcellular transport. Passive transcellular transport is the most common drug permeation route in the intestine, so the mode of transport for artemisinin is easily modeled in Caco-2 cells. This drug transport makes sense because artemisinin is hydrophobic, which easily allows permeation through the lipid bilayer of intestinal epithelial cells.

#### 1.6 Caco-2 Model System for Transport Experiments

The human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2) continuous cell line is a commonlyused and FDA-approved immortalized cell model system employed to mimic the intestinal functions of the intestinal cells: absorption, metabolism, and bioavailability of nutrients and drugs (Hubatsch et al., 2007; Natoli et al., 2011). Caco-2 cells can differentiate spontaneously in culture without the aid of differentiating factors, yet many functions of the small intestinal villi remain functional (Figure 11; Hubatsch et al., 2007). The intestinal properties of Caco-2 cells can vary, however, depending on the passage number, time in culture, origin of cell line, extracellular support, and cell culture media, so these variables should be minimized or otherwise controlled (Artursson et al., 1996).



Figure 11: Transport mechanisms of Caco-2 cells

Caco-2 cells are adherent cells that attach and grow on semi-permeable filters forming a confluent monolayer with tight junctions to facilitate transport, and are thus considered the gold standard for *in vitro* simulation of monolayers (Figure 11; Hubatsch et al., 2007; Natoli et al., 2012). According to Artursson et al. (1996), Caco-2 cells are able to model all four types of transport across the intestinal epithelial layer making them a great choice for *in vitro* toxicology experiments (Figure 11). These cells also express most of the enzymes and carrier systems that intestinal mucosa have *in vitro*, including CYP3A4 (Augustijns et al., 1996). Therefore, they are ideal for studying small intestinal absorption.

For use in transport studies, Caco-2 cells are seeded on to transwell permeable filter hanging well inserts placed into a well in a multi-well plate. After a proper growing period on the filters, 21-29 days, the Caco-2 cells model the intestinal lumen with the apical side represented by the inner well and the basolateral side by the outer well (Figure 11; Hubatsch et al., 2007). In a transport study compounds of interest can be added to either the apical or basolateral side of the cells. Then the experiments are run for a designated amount of time during which the concentration of the compound is measured on both sides. By running transport experiments with this *in vitro* 

model system, the  $P_{app}$  can be determined and then compared to that of other molecules (Augustijns et al., 1996).

#### **1.7 Intestinal Transport of Flavonoids**

Quercetin, considered toxic in concentrations higher than 200–1200 mg, may be conjugated to glucuronides during intestinal absorption to assist in detoxification (Harwood et al., 2007; Murota & Terao, 2003). However, quercetin glucosides are not absorbed intestinally and are first hydrolyzed to quercetin (Walle et al, 2000). Lactate phlorizin hydrolase is a common membrane bound enzyme in the intestinal lumen which has been shown to hydrolyze quercetin glucosides (Day et al., 2000). The flavonoid, rutin, was one quercetin glucoside that was not hydrolyzed by lactate phlorizin hydrolase (Day et al., 2000). Furthermore, rutin absorption may be inhibited by the p-glycoprotein and multidrug resistant proteins localized in apical and basolateral membranes of the intestine, as well as in Caco-2 differentiated cultures (Zhang et al., 2013). These transmembrane proteins may be responsible for the excretion of rutin from the serum supported by higher basolateral to apical than apical to basolateral transport (Zhang et al., 2013).

#### **1.8 Intestinal Transport of Phenolic Acids**

Konishi & Kobayashi (2004) reported that monocarboxylic acid transporters are responsible for the transport of some phenolic acids across Caco-2 cells. Most orally consumed chlorogenic acid reaches the colon fully intact (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2004); in the colon it is hydrolyzed into caffeic acid. Konishi & Kobayashi (2004) studied the transport of chlorogenic and caffeic acid in Caco-2 cells, and found that chlorogenic acids exhibit non-saturable transport across a Caco-2 cell monolayer through passive paracellular diffusion (Figure 11B). This suggested that once chlorogenic acid crosses the intestinal epithelial layer, it will not be transported back into the intestinal lumen.

Chlorogenic acid has been shown to upregulate CYP34A activity depending on concentration. At the lowest concentration (0.1  $\mu$ M), chlorogenic acid showed the greatest CYP34A induction;

at moderate concentrations (1, 2, 10  $\mu$ M) the induction was decreased, and at the highest concentration (20  $\mu$ M) CYP34A activity increased slightly (Li et al., 2010). Konishi & Kobayashi (2005) studied transepithelial transport of rosmarinic acid. Similar to chlorogenic acid, when the proton gradient was set so that the apical side had a pH of 6 and the basolateral side a pH of 7.4, the transport in either direction across the cells was similar. Unlike chlorogenic acid, when the proton gradient was removed, rosmarinic acid still exhibited similar transport in both directions, apical to basolateral and the reverse, basolateral to apical. Because the cell transport of rosmarinic acid decreased as the tightness of intercellular junctions increased, it was thought to permeate by paracellular pathways (Figure 11B), similar to chlorogenic acid (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2005). Studies performed by Qiang et al. (2011) concluded that rosmarinic acid is transported by both passive transcellular (Figure 11A) and paracellular routes (Figure 11B).

Studying the role of phenolic acids in assisting artemisinin transport across the Caco-2 cell monolayer may provide insight into how these compounds function regarding artemisinin transport into the serum. Further experimentation with varying phenolic acid concentrations may yield different results, such that at one concentration artemisinin may be inhibited while at another it may be increased.

#### **1.9 Intestinal Transport of Monoterpenes**

Monoterpenes are organic compounds typically formed in plants (Hylemon & Harder, 1999). They can be toxic to cells of herbivores and serve as a defensive mechanism for the plant (Gershenzon & Croteau, 1992). This is often accomplished by the inhibition of digestive enzymes that prevent sufficient nutrient absorption, causing the animal to become weak and unable to properly function (DeGabriel et al., 2009). Additionally, monoterpenes have been found to inhibit acetylcholinesterase, which is involved in neurotransmission (Perry et al., 2000; Miyazawa et al., 1997). As a response, herbivores have developed their own defensive mechanisms to combat the harmful effects of monoterpenes and other plant secondary metabolites. Some of these mechanisms include stomach and intestinal pH regulation and the production of surfactants that prevent interactions between these metabolites and digestive

enzymes (Berenbaum, 1980; Martin & Martin, 1984). However, there is also research that suggests that >95% of consumed monoterpenes are absorbed through the wall of the intestines and therefore do not interact at all with these enzymes (Boyle et al., 1999; Foley et al., 1987; Sorensen et al., 2004; Shipley et al., 2012).

In a study by Kohl et al. (2015), the intestinal contents of Greater Sage-Grouse (avian herbivores) and chickens were examined for remains of monoterpenes and their effects on the inhibition of various digestive enzymes. Monoterpenes, including borneol, 1,8-cineole, and camphor, were found responsible for inhibiting the digestive enzymes of both species of birds. Specifically, the digestive enzyme, aminopeptidase-N (APN), was found to be inhibited by the presence of monoterpenes. APN is an important enzyme because it allows absorption of nutrients by cleaving the terminal amino acids that are attached to proteins during digestion (Sjöström et al., 2002). Contrary to this finding however, the monoterpene,  $\beta$ -pinene, increased digestive enzyme activity in chickens (Kohl et al., 2015). The larger implications of this study suggest that the presence of specific monoterpenes may inhibit or enhance the ability of proteins to be digested by birds (Kohl et al., 2015). Additionally, this research brings to question the effects that the presence of monoterpenes could have on intestinal transport of artemisinin using the Caco-2 model.

# 2.0 Aims and Hypotheses

Based on the evidence that orally consumed dried *A. annua* leaves were therapeutically successful in humans and animal models, our primary aim was to determine how many of the major phytochemicals in *A. annua* assisted in antimalarial activity by increasing the bioavailability of artemisinin, the primary plant antimalarial. We hypothesized that when rutin and quercetin were used in the transportation experiments, the results achieved would be the same as the previous MQP group's results with increased artemisinin transport. For the transport experiments with chlorogenic acid and rosmarinic acid, we hypothesized that the bioavailability of artemisinin would be increased. For the concentration series experiment with chlorogenic acid, we predicted that an increased amount of chlorogenic acid would increase the bioavailability of artemisinin.

Our major goals included:

- 1. Demonstrating reproducibility of the previous Caco-2 study that measured artemisinin permeability with or without quercetin or rutin.
- 2. Calculating the  $P_{app}$  of artemisinin with or without rosmarinic and chlorogenic acid.
- 3. Measuring the effect of varying concentrations of chlorogenic acid on artemisinin transport.
- 4. Calculating the  $P_{app}$  of artemisinin with or without camphor.
- 5. Measuring the effect of varying concentrations of camphor on artemisinin transport.

## 3.0 Methods

These methods were adapted from Natoli et al. (2012), Hubatsch et al. (2007), and developed also from an earlier study by Harten, et al. (2014). The drug transport study procedure has been adapted from Augustijns, et al. (1996) and Hubatsch, et al. (2007).

#### **3.1 Materials**

Caco-2 cultured cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (passage number 18-49; Manassas, VA). Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; cat #: S162H) was purchased from Biowest (Nuaillé, France). Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS; cat #: 14175-079), penicillin/streptomycin, and Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM + GlutaMAX, 4.5 g/L Glucose, 110 mg/L Sodium Pyruvate; cat #: 10569-010) were all obtained from Gibco. The 12-well plates were purchased from Corning (Corning, NY; cat #: 3512), and transwell inserts with 0.4 µm polycarbonate membranes were purchased from Greiner Bio-One (Monroe, NC; cat #: 665640). TrypLE (cat #: 12604-021) and trypan blue were obtained from Gibco (Grand Island, NY).

#### 3.2 Caco-2 Cell Culture

Stock Caco-2 cells were grown in medium (containing 79% DMEM + GlutaMAX, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 20% FBS) up to 90% confluence at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Medium was changed every 2 days for 3-5 passages. Cells were passaged at 50-90% confluence, ideal to minimize passages and cell line mutation. Passaging occurred 2-5 days after plating cells at an average known density of 2 X  $10^6$  per T75 (75mm<sup>2</sup>) flask. Cells were split by treatment with 4mL of an HBSS wash (~1 minute at room temperature in the cell culture hood) and 4mL of TrypLE (15 minutes at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>). All cells used for transport experiments were between 9 and 50 passages and were >95% viable as determined through a 1:1 (0.05 mL cell suspension, 0.05 mL trypan blue) trypan blue cell count, in which blue cells were dead. Cells were seeded at

a density of  $1 \times 10^{5}$ /cm<sup>2</sup> in each of 12 transwell filters (diameter of 13.85 mm<sup>2</sup>), and maintained by standard Caco-2 cell culture techniques, changing media every 1-2 days (Hubatsch et al., 2007).

#### 3.3 Measuring Transepithelial Electrical Resistance

Caco-2 cells were grown on transwell inserts (0.4  $\mu$ m pore size, Greiner Bio-One, Monroe, NC) for TEER measurement and transport experiments. Cells were seeded at a density of 1 X 10<sup>5</sup>/cm<sup>2</sup> and became confluent after about 21-29 days post inoculation. At about 21-29 days, cells formed tight junctions and differentiated into functional villi. Media were changed every 2 days. An EVOM<sup>2</sup> TEER probe (Worlds Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions to measure the tight junction integrity of the monolayer. A TEER >250  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup> indicated that cell monolayers were ready for transport experiments (Equation 1).

#### **Equation 1: Transepithelial Electrical Resistance**

 $TEER = (R - RB) \times A$ 

where R is resistance in  $\Omega$  of filter and cells, RB is resistance in  $\Omega$  of filter, and A is growth area of the filter in cm<sup>2</sup>.

#### **3.4 Transport Donor Solutions**

Two phenolic acids, rosmarinic acid ( $\geq$ 98%; Sigma Aldrich, cat#: R4033) and chlorogenic acid ( $\geq$ 95%; Sigma Aldrich, cat#: C3878) were investigated, as well as two flavonoids, quercetin ( $\geq$ 95%; Sigma Aldrich, cat#: 1001419342) and rutin, and monoterpene camphor ( $\geq$ 98%; Sigma Aldrich, cat#: 1001150215) to determine their effects on the bioavailability of artemisinin ( $\geq$ 98%; Sigma Aldrich, cat#: 1001496854) as it crosses the intestinal epithelium. Tables 3-6 display the concentrations that were used to create the donor solutions for all transport studies. These tables show the moles (µmol) molarity (µM) and mass (µg) added to each hanging well in the transwell plate. Molar ratios were chosen based on the relative concentrations found in the

SAM cultivar of *A. annua* (Table 3-6; Table A1, Appendix A). Volumes and artemisinin concentration were based on the information provided in the previous Caco-2 MQP from 2014 to enable experimental comparison.  $P_{app}s$  for artemisinin were calculated and compared once a line graph of concentration over time was plotted after the experimental results were received (Equation 2; Sample Calculation 1).

**Equation 2:**  $P_{app}$  Calculation. Where  $\Delta Q$  is the cumulative change in  $\mu g$  of artemisinin from apical to basolateral side of monolayer,  $\Delta t$  is the change in time in seconds,  $C_0$  is the initial concentration of artemisinin ( $\mu g/mL$ ) in the donor solution, and A is surface area of the monolayer (cm<sup>2</sup>).

$$P_{app} = \frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t A C_0}$$

Sample Calculation 1: Calculation of  $P_{app}$  with the artemisinin sample 1 at 60 minutes as an example. The  $P_{app}$  is a measurement of rate of transport which takes into account culture growth surface area as well as the initial concentration of artemisinin. The units are cm/s because mL of water converts to cm<sup>3</sup> which cancels out the cm<sup>2</sup>, and the µg from initial concentration and the measured cumulative artemisinin at 60 minutes also cancel. Given that the transfer solution is mostly water, the units of  $P_{app}$  are cm/s.

$$\begin{split} P_{app} = & \frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t A C_0} \rightarrow \frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t} \times \frac{1}{A C_0} \rightarrow \frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t} / A C_0 \\ \end{split}$$
where  $\frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t}$  is the permeability rate at  $\frac{\mu g}{sec}$ 

A is the surface area of the monolayer in cm<sup>2</sup>

and  $C_0$  is the initial concentration of AN at  $\mu g/mL$ 

$$\frac{\Delta Q}{\Delta t} = (4.763 \,\mu \text{g cumulative over 60 min.})/(3600 \,\text{sec. of transport})$$

. ...

 $AC_0 = (1.12 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ surface area acording to corning}) \times (17.84 \,\mu\text{g/mL})$ 

$$P_{app} = \frac{4.763 \ \mu g}{3600 \text{sec.}} \ / (1.12 \ \text{cm}^2) \times (17.84 \ \mu g/\text{mL}) = 6.62 \times 10^{-5} \ \text{cm/sec}$$

Table 3: Experir	Table 3: Experiment 1 Reagent amounts for artemisinin (AN) ± quercetin (Q) and rutin (R) per transwell													
Reagent		AN alon	e			AN + Q 2	2:1		AN + R 2:1					
	μL stock	μmol	μg	μΜ	μL stock	μmol	μg μM μL st		μL stock	μmol	μg	μМ		
AN	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177		
Q	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.049	15	99	-	-	-	-		
R	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.049	30.1	98		
EtOH (70%)	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
HBSS	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-		
Basolateral side	always conta	ained 1.5	mL HB	SS. AN st	ock solution	= 7.08 ml	И, Q st	ock solut	ion = 3.97 m	M, R stocl	<pre>solution =</pre>	3.95 mM		

Table 4: Expe	Table 4: Experiment 2 Reagent amounts for AN ± chlorogenic acid (CA) and rosmarinic acid (RA) per transwell															
Reagent		AN alon	e		AN + CA 1:1.1				AN + RA 1:1.1				AN + (CA & RA) 1:1.1			
	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM	μL stock	μmol	μg	μΜ	μL stock	μmol	μg	μΜ	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM
AN	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177
CA	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.098	34.7	196	-	-	-	-	6.25	0.049	17.4	98
RA	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.099	35.7	198	6.25	0.049	17.8	99
EtOH (70%)	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HBSS	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-
Basolateral sig	Basolateral side always contained 1.5 mL HBSS. AN stock solution = 7.08 mM, CA stock solution = 7.84 mM, RA stock solution = 7.92 mM															

Reagent	Reagent AN alone				AN + CA	AN + CA 2:1				AN + CA 3:1						
	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM
AN	12.5	0.089	24.7	175	12.5	0.089	24.7	175	12.5	0.089	24.7	175	12.5	0.089	24.7	175
CA	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.098	31	175	6.25	0.049	15.5	87.5	4.2	0.033	10.3	58.3
EtOH (70%)	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6.25	-	-	-	8.30	-	-	-
HBSS	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-

Table 6: Expe	Table 6: Experiment 4 Reagent amounts for AN ± camphor (C) per transwell in concentration series															
Reagent	AN alone				AN + C 1:1				AN + C 2:1				AN + C 10:1			
	μL stock	μmol	μg	μΜ	μL stock	μmol	μg	μМ	μL stock	μmol	μg	μΜ	μL stock	μmol	μg	μM
AN	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177	12.5	0.089	25	177
С	-	-	-	-	12.5	0.088	13.32	177	6.25	0.044	6.66	88.5	1.26	0.009	1.35	17.7
EtOH (70%)	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6.25	-	-	-	11.24	-	-	-
HBSS	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-	475	-	-	-
Total volume	Total volume in apical was 0.5 mL Basolateral side always contained 1.5 mL HBSS. AN stock solution = 7.0 mM, C stock solution = 7.0 mM															
#### **3.5 Transepithelial Transport Experiments and Extractions**

To measure the change in transport of artemisinin (apical to basolateral), a 1.5 mL solution of HBSS was added into the well of a 12-well transwell plate (basolateral side), and 0.5 mL of solution containing the appropriate phytochemical(s) was added into the transwell insert (apical side) (see Tables 3-6 for appropriate chemical concentrations added to each well for each experiment). The 12-well plate was incubated at 37°C for a total of 60 minutes; at every 15 minutes, the transwell inserts were transferred to a new well plate containing 1.5 mL HBSS [in basolateral compartment] in each well to maintain sink conditions. All basolateral solutions remaining in the wells were immediately extracted with equal parts methylene chloride. Remaining apical solutions were extracted only after the completion of the 60 minute transport experiment. To determine artemisinin content within the cell layer, the monolayer was trypsinized, incubated (30-60 min. at  $37^{\circ}$ C), and then scraped off of the inserts and extracted. These solutions were dried with N<sub>2</sub> and stored at 4°C until further analysis.

#### 3.6 Analysis of Artemisinin and Deoxyartemisinin

After the transport experiment was complete and all apical and basolateral solutions were extracted, samples were prepared for measurement of artemisinin and deoxyartemisinin by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Prior to analysis, the samples were thawed from the freezer and resuspended in a known volume (100-200  $\mu$ L) of methylene chloride. This quantity was then transferred to each GC/MS vial. Each sample was then air dried using a small hand dryer. Immediately before GC/MS analysis, each sample was re-suspended in 50  $\mu$ L of pentane and placed into the GC/MS for analysis. An Agilent Technologies GC/MS was used for this experiment. Conditions of the GC/MS were as follows: GC, Agilent 7890B; MS, Agilent 5977A; column Agilent HP-5MS (30 m X 0.25 mm X 0.25  $\mu$ m); carrier gas, Heat 1 mL/min; injection volume, 1  $\mu$ L in splitless mode; ion source temperature, 280°C; inlet, 150°C; oven temperature, 125°C help for 1 min and then increased to 300°C at 5°C/min (Towler & Weathers, 2015).

To compare the bioavailability of artemisinin from the transport studies, the concentration values calculated from the GC/MS chromatograms were compiled into a histogram showing the average basolateral concentrations over 15 minute time periods. An ANOVA (0.05 = Statistical significance) was used to compare the statistical significance between the concentrations of artemisinin in the basolateral layer among the artemisinin samples and combination artemisinin/phytochemical samples. This allowed for us to determine whether the tested compounds significantly contributed to the transport of artemisinin across the Caco-2 cells. Averaged artemisinin amounts were displayed for each time point, as well as initial and final apical amounts and cellular amounts. The data from each 15 minute interval were summed and compiled into a line graph of artemisinin accumulation over time on the basolateral side of the well. Slopes were calculated and artemisinin concentrations statistically compared.

#### **3.7 Statistical Methods**

To bring quantitative significance to the data, a statistical analysis must was performed. All conditions were replicated at least three times per experiment, data averaged, and means tested for standard deviation as well as significance using ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer test as well as a paired student's t-test for unequal variances when warranted.

### 4.0 Results

Artemisinin, synthesized and stored within the glandular trichomes of *Artemisia annua*, is recognized as a prominent and potent antimalarial treatment that in murine studies showed that ingestion of dried *A. annua* leaves yielded higher levels of artemisinin in the bloodstream than the pure drug. The exact cause of this difference is unknown, but it is speculated that other compounds within the plant are leading to the increased bioavailability of artemisinin. The goal of this project was to investigate specific compounds found in the plant that may enhance artemisinin bioavailability. These compounds were: two flavonoids, quercetin and rutin; two phenolic acids, chlorogenic and rosmarinic acids; and the monoterpene, camphor. Using the intestinal Caco-2 cell model, drug transport studies were conducted across the monolayer from apical to basolateral side.

### 4.1 Transepithelial Electrical Resistance Validation of Caco-2 Monolayer Integrity

Prior to beginning a transport study, the presence and integrity of the monolayer's tight junctions in each well was tested using transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER). The TEER value of a transwell insert, without cells, was recorded to be 94  $\Omega$ . By subtracting 94  $\Omega$  from the TEER value (obtained per well) and multiplying that value by the area of the filter, the actual resistance of the Caco-2 monolayer was calculated. Crucially, the resistance values must be 250  $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$  or greater, which is necessary for proper assessment of permeability (Appendix C: 1-4). All subsequent transport data are calculated using wells where the TEER value was 250  $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$  or greater; any below 250  $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$  were discarded. TEER was measured immediately following the extractions to control for damages to the monolayer caused by exposure to ethanol or orbital shaker (Appendix C: 1-4). In most cases, there was a slight decrease in TEER from the before and after recordings, but in some cases there was an increase. The differences may have been attributed to uneven monolayers or an un-calibrated TEER instrument.

#### **4.2 Effect of Flavonoids**

The quercetin and rutin transport experiments with artemisinin conducted in early 2014 were replicated in this project to determine experimental reproducibility. The transport solutions were selected such that the concentration of compound per transwell ( $\mu$ M) was two parts artemisinin and one part either quercetin or rutin. Artemisinin stock was 7.08 mM, with 8.86 X 10<sup>-2</sup>  $\mu$ mol of artemisinin (25  $\mu$ g) in each well. The quercetin stock was 3.97 mM with 4.9 X 10<sup>-2</sup>  $\mu$ mol (15  $\mu$ g) in each well. The quercetin stock was 3.97 mM with 4.9 X 10<sup>-2</sup>  $\mu$ mol (15  $\mu$ g) in each well, while the rutin stock was 3.95 mM with 4.9 X 10<sup>-2</sup>  $\mu$ mol (30.1  $\mu$ g) in each well. Additionally, the experimental procedure was modified from last year's group in that the Caco-2 cells were lysed and extracted for any retained artemisinin following the 60 minute transport. Figure 12 displays the average basolateral concentrations of artemisinin for each experimental condition at every time point. In addition, after the 60 minute transport study, artemisinin from the apical side was extracted and an average of 1.99  $\mu$ g across all treatments was measured. Content of artemisinin remaining in the cells was also measured after the transport experiment and a mean of 0.13  $\mu$ g was obtained across all treatments.





Artemisinin transport was greatest after each of the first two 15 min transfers, declining by about 50% after the fourth transfer at 60 min (Figure 12). After 60 min the apical donor wells had about 12-25% of the original amount of donor well artemisinin. Extracted cells (cells post in Figure 12) had barely detectable amounts of artemisinin. When the cumulative amount of artemisinin transported was measured, it appeared that quercetin increased the transport of artemisinin, while rutin had no effect (Figure 13). However, the standard error was large in the artemisinin control as well as for artemisinin and rutin, suggesting that the values were not significantly different (Figure 13). Unfortunately, the initial artemisinin amounts added to the apical donor wells prior to the transport study were not equal (Figure 12), so comparisons between treatments is not possible. There was no significant artemisinin found in the Caco-2 cells at the end of the transport study demonstrating that they did not retain nor bind significant amounts of the drug (Figure 12).



**Figure 13: Cumulative artemisinin concentration at 15-minute time points for quercetin and rutin transport study.** AN concentration is represented as a percentage of AN present in donor solution, added at time zero. Although the treatment of AN+Q has tight error bars (standard error) both one-way ANOVA and Student t-test with unequal variances show no statistical difference in the means of this treatment and AN control at the 60 minute completion (Table 5, Appendix C).

#### **4.3 Effect of Phenolic Acids**

Rosmarinic and chlorogenic acids were chosen as the second set of experimental phytochemicals. These phenolic acids have similar structures, and are both secondary metabolites typically found in *A. annua* with rosmarinic and chlorogenic acids of particular interest. A 1:1.1 molar ratio of phenolic acid to artemisinin was used for this experiment (Table 4). Artemisinin content in apical sides of each well was theoretically 0.089  $\mu$ moles (25  $\mu$ g), and phenolic acid content was 0.098  $\mu$ moles (~35  $\mu$ g) per well (Table 4). Four treatments were compared: artemisinin alone (control), artemisinin and chlorogenic acid, artemisinin and rosmarinic acid, and artemisinin, chlorogenic acid, and rosmarinic acid. Artemisinin transport was greatest after the first 15 min of the transport experiment, declining by ~75% at 60 min (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Average basolateral concentration of artemisinin when combined with phenolic acids over 60 minutes. Artemisinin alone (AN), artemisinin with chlorogenic acid (AN + CA), artemisinin with rosmarinic acid (AN + RA), and artemisinin with both chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid (AN + CA + RA) showed little difference in artemisinin transport in each time period (Table 6, Appendix C). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean. All means were taken from 3 well replicates except donor solutions in which only 1 aliquot was taken. Sum refers to the total AN collected from 15-60 min as well as end point analysis of apical donor well (apical post) and cells (cells post) samples.

In all treatments, the cumulative amount of artemisinin transported across the membrane increased with each 15 minute interval (Figure 15). Although Figure 15 shows almost 25% greater artemisinin transport with both phenolic acids than with either one alone, this transport is displayed as a percentage of the artemisinin measured in the donor solution. The total amount of

artemisinin transported, with artemisinin alone or combined with either phenolic acid averaged between 9.5-10  $\mu$ g/mL. However, when artemisinin was combined with both phenolic acids, the total artemisinin amount was only about 7.5  $\mu$ g/mL. Unfortunately donor solutions differed in artemisinin concentration between theoretical (25 $\mu$ g) and measured amounts of artemisinin in the control and that in both phenolic acid treatments (Figure 14). Therefore, the only two conditions that could be compared were artemisinin with chlorogenic acid, and artemisinin with rosmarinic acid which began with approximately 24.5  $\mu$ g of artemisinin.



**Figure 15: Percentage of artemisinin transport across Caco-2 cells when adding chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid.** Cumulative artemisinin (AN) concentration at 15-minute time points for AN + chlorogenic acid (CA) and AN + rosmarinic acid (RA) transport studies are represented by a percentage of the donor solution added at time zero to the apical side of cells due to differences in measured artemisinin in donor solutions (Figure 6, Appendix C).

The standard error for these values indicated that at 60 min the transport of artemisinin was not significantly different across conditions (Figure 15). Differences in proportion and amount of artemisinin transported in the combined phenolic acid treatment may be due to inconsistent artemisinin concentration in donor solutions (Figure 14 and 15; Table 6, Appendix C).

#### 4.3.1 Chlorogenic Acid Concentration Series

Results thus far suggested that chlorogenic acid, at a molar ratio of artemisinin:chlorogenic acid of 1:1.1 did not enhance artemisinin transport (Figures 14 and 15). To determine if alteration of that ratio affected artemisinin transport, a concentration series was tested with artemisinin:chlorogenic acid ratios of 1:0, 1:1, 2:1, and 3:1. Although after 15 min it appeared that the 2:1 ratio enhanced artemisinin transport, results at 60 min were not statistically significant and dropped to about half measured at the earlier time points (Figure 16). Cumulative artemisinin transport showed a similar, but also insignificant result (Figure 17).



**Figure 16: Average basolateral concentration of artemisinin over 60 minutes with varying concentration treatments with chlorogenic acid.** The AN (artemisinin alone) treatment was not significantly different from any of the CA (chlorogenic acid) concentration treatments (Table 7, Appendix C). All conditions have a 3 well replication. Sum refers to the total AN collected from 15-60 min as well as apical post samples. The cells were not lysed in this experiment nor those that followed due to minute artemisinin content found in the cells from the previous experiments.

Despite all donor well solutions supposedly having an artemisinin concentration of 25  $\mu$ g/well (Figure 16), donor well artemisinin concentrations were again measured lower, at 6-10  $\mu$ g/well. The treatments with similar artemisinin donor solutions, artemisinin alone and artemisinin with chlorogenic acid at a 1:1 concentration, as well as artemisinin with chlorogenic acid at 2:1 and 3:1 concentrations, can be compared pairwise but not with the others. Some of the artemisinin was unaccounted for as shown by the much lower sum data for the 1:0 and 1:1 ratios (Figure 16).



**Figure 17: Percentage of artemisinin transport across Caco-2 cells when adding varying chlorogenic acid concentrations.** Cumulative AN concentration at 15-minute time points for AN + CA transport study is represented by a percentage of the donor solution added at time zero to the apical side of cells due to differences in measured artemisinin in donor solutions (Figure 7, Appendix C).

#### **4.4 Effect of Monoterpenes**

Because of camphor abundance in *A. annua*, a concentration series was performed to determine if this phytochemical increased transport of artemisinin. To accomplish this, a concentration series was conducted with artemisinin and camphor at 1:0, 1:1, 2:1, and 10:1 artemisinin:camphor molar ratios with the 10:1 correlating with the measured in dried *A. annua* leaf tablets. The amount of artemisinin collected for all samples at each time points is illustrated in Figure 18.



**Figure 18:** Average basolateral concentration of artemisinin over 60 minutes with varying concentration treatments with camphor. The AN (artemisinin alone) treatment was significantly different for the 2:1 C (camphor) concentration treatment at 45 minutes (Table 8, Appendix C). All conditions have a 3 well replication. Sum refers to the total AN collected from 15-60 min as well as apical post samples.

The donor well solutions varied from 12.5 to 20  $\mu$ g of starting artemisinin, clearly different again from the theoretical starting amount of 25  $\mu$ g. The amount of artemisinin collected at each 15 min interval was about 2-4  $\mu$ g (Figure 18). The 1:1 artemisinin to camphor concentration and 10:1 concentration showed elevated amounts of artemisinin on the apical side post transport experiment; this ultimately resulted in a greater amount of summed artemisinin than the measured amount originally put into the wells (Figure 18). The artemisinin and camphor ratio of 10:1 showed the greatest amount of artemisinin transport with about 80% crossing form the apical to basal side after 60 minutes (Figure 19), which was the only statistically significant result.



**Figure 19: Percentage of artemisinin transport across Caco-2 cells when adding varying camphor concentrations.** Cumulative AN concentration at 15-minute time points for AN + C transport study is represented by a percentage of the donor solution added at time zero to the apical side of cells due to differences in measured artemisinin in donor solutions (Figure 8, Appendix C).

#### 4.5 Apparent permeability value

In transport studies,  $P_{app}$  is commonly calculated to account for differences in donor well concentration, cell growth area, and experiment duration.  $P_{app}$  was calculated using the average cumulative artemisinin at 60 minutes from all replicate transport experiments. Except for one condition within the camphor experiment, the average  $P_{app}$  from each condition in each experiment was not statistically significant from its respective artemisinin control (Figures 20-23). The 10:1 artemisinin to camphor treatment yielded significant differences, and showed an increase compared to the control (Figure 23).



Treatment	P <sub>app</sub>	St. error	
AN	6.62x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	
AN+Q 2:1	8.61x10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.52x10 <sup>-6</sup>	
AN+R 2:1	5.67x10 <sup>-5</sup>	9.04x10 <sup>-6</sup>	

Figure 20: Apparent permeability value  $(P_{app})$  of flavonoid treatments. Error bars represent standard error for all means presented. Flavonoids tested, quercetin (Q) and rutin (R) were replicated 3 times for a total of 4 wells. All molar ratios were 2 parts AN to 1 part flavonoid. Note that AN donor solutions contained 9 µg, AN+Q 11 µg, and the AN+R treatment contained 14 µg AN.



Treatment	P <sub>app</sub>	St. error	
AN	5.77x10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.94x10 <sup>-6</sup>	
AN+CA 1:1	5.11x10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.87x10 <sup>-6</sup>	
AN+RA 1:1	4.76x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.66x10 <sup>-6</sup>	
AN+(CA+RA) 1:1	6.79x10 <sup>-5</sup>	8.53x10 <sup>-6</sup>	

# Figure 21: Apparent permeability value (P<sub>app</sub>) of artemisinin in phenolic

acid treatments. Error bars represent standard error for all means presented. Phenolic acids tested, chlorogenic acid (CA) and rosmarinic acid (RA) were replicated twice for a total of 3 wells. All molar ratios were 1 part AN to 1 part phenolic acid. Note that AN donor solutions contained 21  $\mu$ g, AN+CA and AN+RA contained ~24.5, & AN+CA+RA treatment contained 14  $\mu$ g AN.



Treatment	P <sub>app</sub>	St. error	
AN	5.44x10 <sup>-5</sup>	7.13x10 <sup>-6</sup>	
AN+CA 1:1	4.93x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.72x10 <sup>-5</sup>	
AN+CA 2:1	8.55x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.91x10 <sup>-5</sup>	
AN+CA 3:1	6.72x10 <sup>-5</sup>	8.33x10 <sup>-6</sup>	

Figure 22: Apparent permeability value ( $P_{app}$ ) of artemisinin in the chlorogenic acid concentration series. Error bars represent standard error for all means presented. Chlorogenic acid (CA) concentrations were tested with 2 replicates for a total of 3 wells for each treatment. Molar ratios are denoted. Note that AN concentration remained the same, and CA concentration was altered accordingly in each treatment. Note that AN & 1:1 donor solutions contained 8 µg AN and 2:1 & 3:1 treatments contained 6 µg AN in their donor solutions.



Treatment	P <sub>app</sub>	St. error
AN	7.72x10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.03x10 <sup>-6</sup>
AN+C 1:1	7.94x10 <sup>-5</sup>	9.56x10 <sup>-7</sup>
AN+C 2:1	6.38x10 <sup>-5</sup>	7.32x10 <sup>-6</sup>
AN+C 10:1	$1.02 \times 10^{-4}$	8.6x10 <sup>-6</sup>

Figure 23: Apparent permeability value ( $P_{app}$ ) of artemisinin in the camphor concentration series. Error bars represent standard error for all means presented. Camphor (C) treatments were tested with 2 replicates for a total of 3 wells per treatment. Molar ratios of AN to C are denoted, but note that the concentration of AN remained the same while C was altered accordingly. \*, statistical significance at  $p \le 0.05$  when compared to AN alone (t-Test: Paired Two Sample for Means). Note that the AN and 10:1 donor solutions contained ~13µg of AN, 1:1 and 2:1 donor solutions contained ~20 µg of AN.

#### 4.6 Analysis of Artemisinin Donor Well Solutions

Some confusion arose as to the artemisinin differences between the applied and measured levels in donor wells for each treatment (Tables 3-6; Figures 12, 14, 16, 18). The same volume of artemisinin stock solution was added to each well in each experiment (12.5µL), but the measured artemisinin concentrations in donor solutions were all different. Consequently, comparisons could only be made between those treatments having the same starting artemisinin concentration. While this made it invalid to compare  $P_{app}$  across all conditions, it did permit us to compare the effect of artemisinin concentration in the donor well with artemisinin  $P_{app}$  per se. To determine if the  $P_{app}$  was dependent on artemisinin content in the donor well, each  $P_{app}$  for artemisinin treatments was plotted against the amount of artemisinin actually measured in the donor well (Figure 24). Intermediate amounts of artemisinin resulted in the highest rate of artemisinin transport. A lower  $P_{app}$  was seen at both the high and low artemisinin donor well concentrations. To our knowledge, this comparison had not yet been studied.



**Figure 24:**  $P_{app}$  with varied artemisinin in donor well. From each transport experiment, the AN in donor solutions varied. To determine the role of AN on rate of transport, all control (AN only)  $P_{app}$ s were plotted. The polynomial curve fit the points best with a low  $R^2$  of 0.2655.

## 5.0 Discussion

The overarching goal of this project was to understand how the ingestion of dried leaves of *A*. *annua* (pACT) allows for a greater bioavailability of artemisinin than just the drug alone. Elfawal et al. (2012) showed that a single dose dried whole plant *A*. *annua* (24mg/kg) cleared parasitemia in 88% of the animals used. A later pharmacokinetic study showed that even plant material used in rodent chow increased artemisinin movement into the serum. Those studies suggested that something about the presence of artemisinin in plants allowed for a larger parasite clearance in the murine model. Therefore, it was proposed that other phytochemicals that are present in *A*. *annua* may facilitate the transport of artemisinin across the intestinal barrier, thus allowing for a greater amount of the drug to be present in the blood and available to combat malaria parasites.

To test whether artemisinin transport changed with the addition of phytochemicals from *A. annua*, an intestinal Caco-2 model system was used to measure the transport of artemisinin. The model system was influenced by an artemisinin transport study performed by Augustijns et al. (1996) among other transport studies. In the 60 minute control transport study (artemisinin alone), a  $P_{app}$  of artemisinin was expected to be similar to 30.4 X 10<sup>-6</sup> cm/s at 37°C, as measured by Augustijns et al. (1996). Although the culture growth cross-sectional area in this experiment was smaller, 1.22 cm<sup>2</sup>, than the 4.67 cm<sup>2</sup> in the study by Augustijns et al. (1996),  $P_{app}$  standardizes for culture growth area and allows comparison between the results of both studies. The actual permeability of artemisinin in each treatment in our study is considered "high" ( $P_{app} > 20 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cm/s}$ ) for  $P_{app}$  values (Cerep, 2013). Previously Harten et al. (2014) showed a more modest permeability ( $P_{app} = 2 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cm/s}$  to 20 X 10<sup>-6</sup> cm/s) for artemisinin alone, compared to our study which showed high permeability for all conditions (Figures 20-24).

Additionally, the differences in artemisinin transport rate may be due to differences in artemisinin donor solution concentration. In plotting all control  $P_{app}s$ , in which varied concentrations of artemisinin was added to the apical side, a parabolic trend showed that rate of transport is dependent on artemisinin in donor solutions. Intermediate amounts of artemisinin (14)

 $\mu$ g) gave the greatest P<sub>app</sub>s when both higher (21  $\mu$ g) and lower (8-9  $\mu$ g) amounts resulted in lower transport. Augustijns et al. (1996) studied the transport of artemisinin at 100  $\mu$ M donor concentrations which, based on the curve in Figure C 1, should have given a high P<sub>app</sub> of approximately 8.0 X 10<sup>-5</sup> (derived from the equation of the curve: -1 X 10<sup>-8</sup>(100  $\mu$ M)<sup>2</sup> + 2 X 10<sup>-6</sup> (100  $\mu$ M) - 2 X 10<sup>-5</sup>). However, Caco-2 cells are heterogeneous and may evolve due to selective pressures in culture resulting in experimental differences between transport studies (Vachon & Beaulieu, 1992). In addition, artemisinin detection techniques varied between the two studies. Augustijns et al. (1996) used HPLC and our study used GC/MS. Based on the conflicting findings, more research should cover the effect of artemisinin donor solution concentration on the transport of artemisinin.

The purpose of repeating the flavonoid quercetin and rutin study conducted by Harten et al. (2014) was to verify reproducibility of those results Reproducibility is important in making comparisons between different studies that use cells at different passages. Unfortunately, there was no true statistical difference between the treatments. This may be due to a small replication of 4 wells. To truly see a significant difference the flavonoid treatments would have to be replicated across multiple plates with a large number of wells to compare. This is because the difference between treatments can be small relative to the variation within treatments (McDonald, 2014). With that in mind, the increase of artemisinin transport in the artemisinin and quercetin treatment may be significantly different from the control with multiple replications. This conflicts with the results of Harten et al. (2014) where the artemisinin and rutin treatment showed the greater increase in artemisinin transport. However, Harten et al. (2014) only performed each treatment on 2 wells with the control in only 1 well. High standard error in the artemisinin control for the flavonoid experiment (std. error = 0.18-0.56) could have resulted in a low statistical significance (p=0.110) in the mean difference between the quercetin/artemisinin treatment and the artemisinin control.

Rosmarinic and chlorogenic acids were chosen due to their structural similarities, role in immune response, and abundance in many *A. annua* cultivars (Boundless, 2014; de Magalhães et al., 2012). Other Caco-2 intestinal transport studies showed these phenolic acids possessed  $IC_{50}$  values about 65 µmol/L, significantly thwarted activity of the CYP3A4 P450 cytochromes,

and greatly reduced inflammation via limiting IL-6 and IL-8 cytokine secretions (Svensson & Ashton, 1999; de Magalhães et al., 2012). Figures 14 and 15 showed that the highest proportion of artemisinin was transported when the drug was combined with both rosmarinic and chlorogenic acid, although there was no statistically significant differences. Greater artemisinin transport occurred when the two phenolic acids were combined together with artemisinin than with either single phenolic acid. The lowest amounts of artemisinin transported resulted from transport with chlorogenic acid and rosmarinic acid individually. This differed from Suberu et al. (2013) findings, where rosmarinic acid exemplified a synergistic relationship with artemisinin (1:3 parts artemisinin to rosmarinic acid) in chloroquine sensitive *Plasmodium* strains. Although instead using a breast cancer cell line to test the toxicity of artemisinin, Suberu et al. (2014) determined that there may actually be a decreased artemisinin potency with increased chlorogenic acid concentrations. Additionally, rosmarinic and chlorogenic acid use passive transport just as artemisinin, perhaps the phenolic acids are competing with artemisinin for the same passage routes through the tight junctions (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2004; Konishi & Kobayashi, 2005). Indeed Suberu et al. (2014) showed there was a concentration effect on therapeutic response when artemisinin was combined with some of the individual phytochemicals found in A. annua.

The treatment that combined artemisinin with both chlorogenic acid and rosmarinic acid showed an increase of artemisinin transport compared to artemisinin alone. However, when each chemical was combined individually with artemisinin, a lower percentage was transported across the membrane. These results suggested that a combination of phytochemicals may be more effective than any single phytochemical, as proposed by the study that demonstrated effective parasite clearance when using pACT in a murine model (Elfawal et al., 2012). Also, the fact that rutin, chlorogenic acid, and rosmarinic acid transported a lower percentage of artemisinin, than just artemisinin alone, suggested that some phytochemicals may have an inhibiting effect on the drug. Conducting further transport studies and replication of all thirteen phytochemicals would allow for further characterization of those that promote transport and those that inhibit it.

A camphor concentration series was also performed because this monoterpene is often abundant in the essential oil of *A. annua* (Juteau et al., 2002). Camphor also affects thymocyte viability (Cherneva et al. 2012). Three different ratios of artemisinin to camphor were tested (1:1, 2:1, and 10:1). Because of variability in donor solution artemisinin concentration, the artemisinin treatment can only be compared with the 10:1 treatment of artemisinin to camphor. Additionally, the 2:1 ratio can only be compared with the 1:1 ratio of artemisinin to camphor. The results of this experiment showed that an increase in the percentage of transported artemisinin occurred with the 10:1 ratio (artemisinin:camphor) compared to artemisinin alone. The P<sub>app</sub> values for all camphor transports also showed a high level of permeability, and the 10:1 artemisinin to camphor treatment significantly (p=0.024) increased the artemisinin P<sub>app</sub> compared with the artemisinin control.

Camphor, borneol, and 1,8-cineole (or eucalyptol) were found to inhibit the digestive enzyme, aminopeptidase-N, when consumed by both sage-grouse and chickens (Kohl et al., 2015). The sage-grouse used in that study was known to primarily consume sagebrush, which is a common name for many plants in the Artemisia genus. Therefore, the contents of their digestive system contained plant material that was most likely of this genus, although not likely to include A. annua. However, many of the monoterpenes present in the digested material of the birds were the same or similar to those present in the A. annua cultivar used in this study. Although Kohl et al. (2015) primarily focused on the activity of the bird's digestive enzymes, when taken together with the results of this study, it appeared that camphor had both inhibitory and enhancing effects with respect to digestion and absorption. Furthermore,  $\beta$ -pinene increased digestive activity in chickens without showing this same effect in sage-grouse (Kohl et al., 2015). Although both are avian species, their digestive systems are different enough that  $\beta$ -pinene did not have the same effect in both. Thus it is possible that in different digestive systems, camphor interacts differently with the enzymes that are present. Human intestinal cells are different than avian intestinal cells, which could explain the difference in the effect of camphor. Indeed, other phytochemicals may show similar variations and may show an increase or decrease in digestive activity and transport, depending on the enzymes and makeup of the organism's digestive system and body.

Elfawal et al. (2012) showed that parasite clearance in mice diminished significantly with one dose, thus leading to the conclusion that a larger amount of artemisinin was transported across the epithelial membrane (Elfawal et al., 2012). However, the amount of artemisinin present in the

bloodstream was unknown. It was not until a later pharmacokinetic study that the artemisinin concentration was quantified in healthy and *Plasmodium chabaudi*-infected mice after a 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dose of artemisinin given orally from either a pure drug or pACT treatment (Weathers et al. 2014). The results showed that when accompanied by plant material, more artemisinin passed into the serum, with as much as 6.6 mg/L of artemisinin found in the infected mice. Therefore, there is still the possibility that other phytochemicals in *A. annua*, such as camphor, have antimalarial properties or that the plant matrix itself aided in the eradication of the parasite in these murine models. If this prospect were to be considered, individually testing phytochemicals that showed antimalarial capability in murine models, could be one way to obtain evidence to why artemisinin oral consumption via pACT eradicated malarial parasites more effectively than pure artemisinin.

Of all the phytochemicals tested, only camphor at a molar ratio of 10:1 [artemisinin:camphor] showed a significant increase in artemisinin transport, which was indicative of an increase in artemisinin in the serum. More artemisinin in the serum could aid in parasite clearance, as demonstrated in pACT parasite clearance in the study by Elfawal et al. (2012). This study therefore, may suggest that certain phytochemicals in *A. annua* facilitate the transport of artemisinin, but only at specific ratios relative to artemisinin.

Information regarding the transport of artemisinin in combination with phytochemicals found in *A.annua* is important in understanding the mechanism by which artemisinin serum concentration is increased after pACT treatment, relative to pure artemisinin. Our data show that quercetin, rutin, chlorogenic acid, and rosmarinic acid, did not significantly alter artemisinin serum concentration. However, the rate of transport was increased significantly by camphor at a 10:1 molar concentration [artemisinin:camphor] possibly allowing a faster *in vivo* absorption, and with multiple doses of pACT, a higher overall concentration of artemisinin in the blood. Since the majority of artemisinin is degraded and eliminated through the liver, the activity of the enzymes responsible, e.g. CYP2B6 and CYP3A4 (Niu et al., 1985; Svensson & Ashton, 1999), should be measured in response to various concentrations of different *A. annua* phytochemicals. As previously mentioned, phenolic acids may inhibit such enzymes, so this research would solidify previous findings (Suberu et al. 2014). Also, because artemisinin has been found to

break down into four metabolites (deoxy-dihydroartemisinin, dihydroxyartemisinin, deoxyartemisinin, and crystal-7), it is possible that other metabolites still remain unknown (Lee & Hufford, 1990). Understanding how artemisinin is degraded by the body could give further insight about why consumption of whole plant *A. annua* clears parasitemia more effectively than artemisinin alone.

### 6.0 Conclusions and Future work

First and foremost, the artemisinin transport experiments of this study collectively focused on only five of the thirteen major phytochemicals that have been measured in the A. annua SAM cultivar. The goal was to determine if one specific phytochemical was responsible for a noticeable increase in artemisinin. Our concentration studies revealed that artemisinin transport was affected, not only by certain phytochemicals, but also by the amount of phytochemical relative to artemisinin. Camphor was shown to significantly increase artemisinin transport at a molar ratio of 10:1 [artemisinin:camphor]. To determine if any other phytochemicals are indeed responsible for the increased bioavailability of artemisinin, all of the measured and as of yet unmeasured phytochemicals should be tested using the same transport study, but also at various molar ratios to artemisinin. Because there are multiple phytochemicals in A. annua, a combination effect on artemisinin transport could also be occurring during treatment. If any combination experiments were conducted, it would make sense to test combinations of the phytochemicals that showed the most promising results when individually combined with artemisinin. An alternative option would be to chemically block various chemistries of A. annua plant material, such as proteins, to gain insight on the deleterious effects in transport of artemisinin.

The culmination of our camphor (monoterpene) results, as well as data collected indicative of increased digestive enzyme activity in chickens as a result of the present of  $\beta$ -pinene, should also be considered when continuing with artemisinin transport studies (Kohl et al., 2015). Pinene is a monoterpene that has two isomers,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (Simonsen, 1957). Although,  $\beta$ -pinene is not found in *A. annua*, its isomer,  $\alpha$ -pinene, is present (Weathers & Towler 2014). Since  $\beta$ -pinene showed promising results for increased enzymatic activity in chickens, it is recommended that  $\alpha$ -pinene be tested in combination with artemisinin to see if an increase in bioavailability results. Artemisinin concentration should also be explored as a determinant of optimal transport. Based on our results, P<sub>app</sub> appears to have a parabolic trend with artemisinin for optimal transport.

Thus, a more extensive artemisinin concentration series should be tested to determine if indeed there is an optimum artemisinin concentration for the donor well.

### 7.0 References

- Adams, J. Kelso, R. & Cooley, L. (2000). The kelch repeat superfamily of proteins: propellers of cell function. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 10(1), 17-24.
- Adithan, C. (2005). Food & drug bioavailability. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 121(5), 631-633. Retrieved October 25, 214 from http://www.icmr.nic.in/ijmr/2005/May/commentary2.pdf.
- American Type Culture Collection. (2012). Thawing, propagating, and cryopreserving protocol. Retrieved March 1, 2015 from http://physics.cancer.gov/docs/bioresource/colorectal/NCI-PBCF-HTB37\_Caco-2\_SOP-508.pdf.
- Ariey, F. Witkowski, B. Chanaki, A. Beghain, J. Langlois, A. Khim, N. Kim, S. Duru, V.
  Bouchier, C. Ma, L. Lim, P. Leang, R. Duong, S. Sreng, S. Suon, S. Chour, C. Bout, D.
  Ménard, S. Rogers, W. O. Genton, B. Fandeur, T. Miotto, O. Ringwald, P. Le Bras, J.
  Berry, A. Barale, J. Fairhurst, R. Benoit-Vical, F. Mercereau-Puijalon, O. and Ménard, D.
  (2013). A molecular marker of artemisinin-resistant *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *Nature*, 505(7481), 50-55.
- Artursson, P. Palm, P. and Luthman, K. (1996). Caco-2 monolayers in experimental and theoretical predictions of drug transport. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 22(1-2), 67-84.
- Ashley, E. A. Dhorda, M. Fairhurst, R. M. Amaratunga, C. Lim, P. Suon, S. Sreng, S. Anderson, J. M. Mao, S. Sam, B. Sophia, C. Chuor, C. Nguon, C. Sovannaroth, S. Pukrittayakamee, S. Jittamala, P. Chotivanich, K. Chutasmit, K. Suchatsoonthorn, C. Runcharoen, R. Hien, T. T. Thuy-Nhien, N. T. Thanh, N. V. Phu, N. H. Htut, Y. Han, K. Aye, K. Mokuolo, A. Olaosebikan, R. Folaranmi, O. Mayxay, M. Khanthavong, M. Hongvanthong, B. Newton, P. Onyamboko, M. Fanello, C. Tshefu, A. Mishra, N. Valecha, N. Phyo, A. Nosten, F. Yi, R. Tripura, R. Borrmann, S. Bashraheil, M. Peshu, J. Faiz, M. Ghose, A. Hossain, M. Samad, R. Rahman, M. Hasan, M. Islam, A. Miotto, O. Amato, R. MacInnis, B. Stalker, J. Kwiatkowski, D. Bosdech, Z. Jeeyapant, A. Cheah, P. Sakulthaew, T. Chalk, J. Intharabut, B. Silamut, K. Lee, S. Vihokhern, B. Kunasol, C. Imwong, M. Tarnig, J.

Taylor, W. Yeung, S. Woodrow, C. Flegg, J. Das, D. Smith, J. Venkatesan, M. Plowe, C. Stepniewska, K. Guerin, P. Dondorp, A. Day, N. and White, N. (2014). Spread of artemisinin resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum*. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 371(5), 411-423.

- Augustijns, P. D'hulst, A. Daele, J. and Kinget, R. (1996). Transport of artemisinin and sodium artesunate in Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 85(6), 577-579.
- Berenbaum, M. (1980) Adaptive significance of midgut pH in larval *Lepidoptera*. *The American Naturalist*, 115(1), 138–146.
- Bhakuni, R. S. Jain, D. C. Sharma, R. P. and Kumar, S. (2001). Secondary metabolites of *Artemisia annua* and their biological activity. *Current Science*, 80(1), 35-48.
- Bhakuni, R. S. Jain, D. C. and Sharma, R. P. (2002). Chapter 18: phytochemistry of *Artemisia* annua and the development of artemisinin-derived antimalarial agents. *Artemisia*, Taylor & Francis Group, 211-248
- Bhattarai, A. Ali, A. Kachur, S. Mårtensson, A. Abbas, A. Khatib, R. Al-Mafazy, A. Ramsan, M. Rotllant, G. Gerstenmaier, J. Molteni, F. Abdulla, S. Montgomery, S. Kaneko, A. and Björkman, A. (2007). Impact of artemisinin-based combination therapy and insecticide-treated nets on malaria burden in Zanzibar. *PLOS Medicine*, 4(11), 1784-1790.
- Bitis, L. Kultur, S. Melikoglu, G. Ozsoy, N. and Can, A. (2010). Flavonoids and antioxidant of *Rosa agrestis* leaves. *Natural Product Research*, 24(6), 580-589.
- Boyle, R. McLean, S. Foley, W. & Davies, N. (1999). Comparative metabolism of dietary terpene, p-cymene, in generalist and specialist folivorous marsupials. *Journal Chemical Ecolology*, 25(9), 2109–2126.
- Boyom, F. F. Ngouana, V. Zollo, P. H. A. Menut, C. Bessiere, J. M. Gut, J. and Rosenthal, P. J. (2003). Composition and anti-plasmodial activities of essential oils from some Cameroonian medicinal plants. *Phytochemistry*, 64(7), 1269-1275.
- Boundless Microbiology. (2014). *Primary and Secondary Metabolites*. Retrieved January 28, 2015 from https://www.boundless.com/microbiology/textbooks/boundless-microbiology-textbook/industrial-microbiology-17/industrial-microbiology-198/primary-and-secondary-metabolites-999-5345/

- Breman, J. G. Egan, A. and Keusch, G. T. (2001). The intolerable burden of malaria: a new look at the numbers. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 64(1), 4-7.
- Carbonara, T. Pascale, R. Argentieri, M. Papadia, P. Fanizzi, F. Villanova, L. and Avato, P. (2012). Phytochemical analysis of herbal tea from *Artemisia annua* L. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 62(2012), 79-86.
- Ćavar, S. Maksimović, M. Vidic, D. and Parić, A. (2012). Chemical composition and antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of essential oil of *Artemisia annua L*. from Bosnia. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 37(1), 479-485.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). *Human factors and malaria*. Retrieved January 23, 2014, from http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/about/biology/human\_factors.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). *Malaria: disease*. Retrieved January 23, 2014, from http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/about/disease.html.
- Cerep. (2013). In vitro drug absorption. Retrieved February 28, 2015, from https://www.eurofinspanlabs.com/Marketing/Microsite/Adme\_toxicity/In\_vitro\_drug\_abs orption.pdf.
- Chang-Wei, L. & Cheng-Bin, C. (2014). One new and nine known flavonoids from *Choerospondias axillaries* and their *in vitro* antitumor, anti-hypoxia, and antibacterial activities. *Molecules*, 19(12), 21363-21377.
- Cherneva, E. Pavlovic, V. Smelcerovic, A. and Yancheva, D. (2012). The effect of camphor and borneol on rat thymocyte viability and oxidative stress. *Molecules*, 17(9), 10258-10266.
- Christen, P. & Veuthey, J. (2001). New trends in extraction, identification and quantification of artemisinin and its derivatives. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 8(15), 1827-1839.
- Congpuong, K. Saipomsud, W. Chompoonuch, C. Niemhom, P. Vinayak, S. and Satimai, W. (2010). Efficacy of a 3-day artesunate-mefloquine combination in the treatment of uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria in Kanchanaburi province of Thailand. *Asian Biomedicine*, 4(2), 289-295.
- Coulibaly, D. Diallo, D. Thera, M. Dicko, A. Guindo, A. Kone, A. Cissoko, Y. Coulibaly, S. Djimde, A. Lyke, K. Duombo, O. and Plowe, C. (2002). Impact of preseason treatment on incidence of *falciparum* malaria and parasite density at a site for testing malaria vaccines in Bandiagara, Mali. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 67(6), 604-610.

- Crozier, A. Jaganath, I. and Clifford, M. (2006). Chapter 1: phenols, polyphenols and tannins: an overview. *Plant Secondary Metabolites: Occurrence, Structure, and Role in Human Diet*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., 1-22.
- Davis, W. A. Clarke, P. M. Siba, P. M. Karunajeewa, H. A. Davy, C. Mueller, I. and Davis, T. M. (2011). Cost-effectiveness of artemisinin combination therapy for uncomplicated malaria in children: data from Papua New Guinea. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 89(3), 211-220.
- Day, A. J. Cañada, F. J. Díaz, J. C. Kroon, P. A. Mclauchlan, R. Faulds, C. B. Morgan, M. R. A. and Williamson, G. (2000). Dietary flavonoid and isoflavone glycosides are hydrolysed by the lactase site of lactase phlorizin hydrolase. *FEBS Letters*, 468(2), 166-170.
- DeGabriel, J. Moore, B. Foley, W. and Johnson, C. (2009). The effects of plant defensive chemistry on nutrient availability predict reproductive success in a mammal. *Ecology*. 90(3), 711–719.
- de Magalhães, P. Dupont, I. Hendrickx, A. Joly, A. Raas, T. Dessy, S. Sergent, T. and Schneider, Y. (2012). Anti-inflammatory effect and modulation of cytochrome P450 activities by *Artemisia annua* tea infusions in human intestinal Caco-2 cells. *Food chemistry*, 134(2), 864-871.
- de Vries, P. J. Dien, T. K. (1996). Clinical pharmacology and therapeutic potential of artemisinin and its derivatives in the treatment of malaria. *Journal Drugs* 52(6), 818-836
- Dondorp, A. Nosten, F. Yi, P. Das, D. Phyo, A. Tarning, J. Lwin, K. Ariey, F. Hanpithakpong, w. Lee, S. Ringwald, P. Silamut, K. Imwong, M. Chotivanich, k. Lim, P. Herdman, T. Sam, S. Yeung, S. Singhasivanon, P. Day, N. Lindegardh, N. Socheat, D. and White, N. (2009). Artemisinin resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 361(5), 455-467.
- Duke, J. A. (2001). Handbook of phytochemical constituents of GRAS herbs and other economic plants. *CRC Press LLC*, 70.
- Duke, M. V. Paul, R. N. Elsohly, H. N. Sturtz, G. and Duke, S. O. (1994). Localization of artemisinin and artemisitene in foliar tissues of glanded and glandless biotypes of *Artemisia annua L. International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 155(3), 365-372.
- Eastman, R. T. & Fidock, D. A. (2009). Artemisinin-based combination therapies: a vital tool in efforts to eliminate malaria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *7*(12), 864-874.

- Eckstein-Ludwig, U. Webb, R.J. Van Goethem, I.D. Lee, A.G. Kimura, M. O'Neill, P.M. Bray,
   P.G. Ward, S.A. and Krishna, S. (2003). Artemisinins target the SERCA of *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Nature*, 424 (6951), 957–961.
- Elfawal, M. A. Towler, M. Reich, N. G. Golenbock, D. Weathers, P. J. and Rich, S. M. (2012). Dried whole plant *Artemisia annua* as an antimalarial therapy. *PLOSone*, 7(12), e52746.
- Elfawal, M. Towler, M. Reich, N. Weathers, P. and Rich, S. (2015). Dried whole-plant Artemisia annua slows evolution of malaria drug resistance and overcomes resistance to artemisinin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(3), 821-826.
- Elford, B. C. Roberts, M. F. Phillipson, J. D. and Wilson, R. J. (1987). Potentiation of the antimalarial activity of qinghaosu by methoxylated flavones. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 81(3), 434-436.
- Faurant, C. (2011). From bark to weed: The history of artemisinin. *Parasite*, 18 (3), 215-218.
- Feng, R. Guo, Z. Yan, C. Li, E. Tan, R. and Ge, H. (2012). Anti-inflammatory flavonoids from *Cryptocarya chingii. Phytochemistry*, 76(2012), 98-105.
- Ferreira, J. & Janick, J. (1995). Floral morphology of *Artemisia annua* with special reference to trichomes. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 156(6), 807-815.
- Ferreira, J. F. Luthria, D. L. Sasaki, T. and Heyerick, A. (2010). Flavonoids from Artemisia annua L. as antioxidants and their potential synergism with artemisinin against malaria and cancer. *Molecules*, 15(5), 3135-3170.
- Foley, W. Lassak, E. and Brophy, J. (1987). Digestion and absorption of Eucalyptus essential oils in greater glider (*Petauroides volans*) and brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 13(11), 2115–2130.
- Friedman, M. J. (1978). Erythrocytic mechanism of sickle cell resistance to malaria. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 75(4), 1994-1997.
- Fujisaki, R. Kamei, K. Yamamura, M. Nishiya, H. Inouye, S. Takahashi, M. and Abe, S. (2012). In vitro and in vivo anti-plasmodial activity of essential oils, including hinokitiol. The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health, 43(2), 270-279.
- Gasasira, A. Dorsey, G. Nzarubara, B. Staedke, S. Nassali, A. Rosenthal, P. Kamya, M. Staedke,
  S. and Rosenthal, P. (2003). Comparative efficacy of aminoquinoline-antifolate
  combinations for the treatment of uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria in Kampala,
  Uganda. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 68(2), 127-132.

- Gershenzon, J. & Croteau, R. (1992) Terpenoids. *Herbivores: Their Interactions with Secondary Plant Metabolites*. Academic Press, 165-219.
- Giao, P. T. Binh, T. Q. Kager, P. A. Long, H. P. Van Thang, N. Van Nam, N. and de Vries, P. J. (2001). Artemisinin for treatment of uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria: is there a place for monotherapy?. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 65(6), 690-695.
- Golenser, J. Waknine, J. Krugliak, M. Hunt, N. and Grau, G. (2006). Current perspectives on the mechanism of action of artemisinins. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 36(14), 1427-1441.
- Harten, K. Hayes, B. and Sandford, L. (2014). The effect of flavonoids on artemisinin transport across Caco-2 monolayers. Worcester Polytechnic Institute Major Qualifying Project.
- Harwood, M. Danielewska-Nikiel, B. Borzelleca, J. F. Flamm, G. W. Williams, G. M. and Lines, T. C. (2007). A critical review of the data related to the safety of quercetin and lack of evidence of in vivo toxicity, including lack of genotoxic/carcinogenic properties. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(11), 2179-2205.
- Hasugian, A. R. Purba, L.E. Kenangalem, E. Wuwung, R. M. Ebsworth, E. P. Maristela, R.
  Penttien, P. M. Laihad, F. Anstey, N. M. Tjitra, E. and Price, R. N. (2007).
  Dihydroartemisinin–piperaquine versus artesunate–amodiaquine: superior efficacy and posttreatment prophylaxis against multidrug-resistant *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Plasmodium vivax* malaria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 44(8), 1067–1074.
- Hoppe, H. Schalkwyk, D. Wiehart, U. Meredith, S. Egan, J. and Weber, B. (2004). Antimalarial quinolines and artemisinin inhibit endocytosis in *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 48(7), 2370-2378.
- Hubatsch, I. Ragnarsson, E. and Artursson, P. (2007). Determination of drug permeability and prediction of drug absorption in Caco-2 monolayers. *Nature Protocols*, 2(9), 2111-2119.
- Humphrey, A. & Beale, M. (2006). Chapter 3: terpenes. *Plant Secondary Metabolites:Occurrence, Structure, and Role in Human Diet.* Blackwell Publishing Ltd., 47-101.
- Hylemon, PB. & Harder, J. (1999). Biotransformation of monoterpenes, bile acids, and other isoprenoids in anaerobic ecosystems. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*. 22(5), 475-488.
- ICIPE. (2005). Whole-leaf *Artemisia annua*-based antimalarial drug: report on proof-of-concepts studies, unpublished report. Retrieved January 10, 2015 from

http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=2&ved=0 CDgQFjAB&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.iwerliewen.org%2Findex.php%2Fcomponent %2Fedocman%2F%3Ftask%3Ddocument.download%26id%3D96%26Itemid%3D181&e i=J2miUbnFNo80QGoi4GACw&usg=AFQjCNHoLJmPt4n0AkKyBlXPSyl5W7rc6w&si g2=ppM08X1tZglQLLiaojZx1w&bvm=bv.47008514,d.dmQ.

- Jung, M. Kim, H. Nam, K.Y. and No, K.T. (2005). Three-dimensional structure of *Plasmodium falciparum* Ca2+-ATPase (PfATP6) and docking of artemisinin derivatives to PfATP6. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 15(12), 2994–2997.
- Juteau, F. Masotti, V. Bessiere, J. M. Dherbomez, M. and Viano, J. (2002). Antibacterial and antioxidant activities of *Artemisia annua* essential oil. *Fitoterapia*, 73(6), 532-535.
- Kelsey, R. G. & Shafizadeh, F. (1980). Glandular trichomes and sesquiterpene lactones of *Artemisia nova (Asteraceae). Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 8(4), 371-377.
- Klayman, D. (1993). Artemisia annua: from weed to respect able antimalarial plant. Human medicinal agents from plants. Chemical Society Symposium Series, 242-255.
- Kohl, K. Pitman, E. Robb, B. Connelly, J. Dearing, M. and Forbey, J. (2015). Monoterpenes as inhibitors of digestive enzymes and counter-adaptations in a specialist avian herbivore. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B.*, e-published ahead of print.
- Konishi, Y. & Kobayashi, S. (2004). Transepithelial transport of chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, and their colonic metabolites in intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Journal of agricultural* and food chemistry, 52(9), 2518-2526.
- Konishi, Y. & Kobayashi, S. (2005). Transepithelial transport of rosmarinic acid in intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 69(3), 583-591.
- Kono, Y. Shibata, H. Kodama, Y. and Sawa, Y. (1995). The suppression of the N-nitrosating reaction by chlorogenic acid. *Biochemical Journal*, 312(3), 947–953.
- Langhi, D.M. & Bordin, O. (2006). Duffy blood group and malaria. *Hematology*, 11(5), 389-398.
- Lee, I-K & Hufford, C. (1990). Metabolism of antimalarial sesquiterpene lactones. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 48(3), 345–355.
- Lehane, A. M. & Saliba, K. J. (2008) Common dietary flavonoids inhibit the growth of the intraerythrocytic malaria parasite. *BioMed Central Research Notes*, 1(1), 26-30.
- Li, J. & Zhou, B. (2010) Biological actions of artemisinin: insights from medicinal chemistry studies. *Molecules*, 15(3), 1378-1397.

- Li, Y. Wang, Q. Yao, X. and Li, Y. (2010). Induction of CYP3A4 and MDR1 gene expression by baicalin, baicalein, chlorogenic acid, and ginsenoside Rf through constitutive androstane receptor- and pregnane X receptor-mediated pathways. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 640(1-3), 46-54.
- Martin, M. & Martin, J. (1984) Surfactants: their role in preventing the precipitation of proteins by tannins in insect guts. *Oecologia*, 61(3), 342–345.
- McDonald, J.H. (2014). Handbook of Biological Statistics. Sparky *House Publishing*, 3, 180-185.
- Milhau, G. Valentin, A. Benoit, F. Mallié, M. Bastide, J. M. Pélissier, Y. and Bessière, J. M. (1997). *In vitro* antimalarial activity of eight essential oils. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 9(3), 329-333.
- Miyazawa, M. Watanabe, H. and Kameoka, H. (1997). Inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activity by monoterpenoids with a p-menthane skeleton. J Agric Food Chem 45:677–679.
- Mueller, M. Runyambo, N. Wagner, I. Borrmann, S. Dietz, K. and Heide, L. (2004).
  Randomized controlled trial of a traditional preparation of *Artemisia annua L*. (annual wormwood) in the treatment of malaria. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 98(5), 318-321.
- Murota, K. & Terao, J. (2003). Antioxidative flavonoid quercetin: implication of its intestinal absorption and metabolism. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 417(1), 12-17.
- National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases. (2012). *Life Cycle of the Malaria Parasite*. Retrieved January 15, 2015 from http://www.niaid.nih.gov/topics/malaria/pages/lifecycle.aspx.
- Natoli, M. Leoni, B. D'Agnano, I. Brandi, R. Arisi, I. Zucco, F. and Felsani, A. (2011). Cell growing density affects the structural and functional properties of Caco-2 differentiated monolayer. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 226(6), 1531-1543.
- Natoli, M. Leoni, B. D'Agnano, I. Zucco, F. and Felsani, A. (2012). Good Caco-2 cell culture practices. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 26(2012), 1243-1246.
- Niggeweg, R. Michael, A. J. and Martin, C. (2004). Engineering plants with increased levels of the antioxidant chlorogenic acid. *Nature Biotechnology*, 22(6), 746-754.

- Niu, X. Ho, L. Ren, Z. and Song, Z. (1985). Metabolic fate of qinghaosu in rats; a new TLC densitometric method for its determination in biological material. *European Journal of Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics*, 10(1), 55-59.
- Olthof, M. Hollman, P. and Katan, M. (2001). Chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid are absorbed in humans. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 131(1), 66-71.
- Ogwang, P. Ogwal, J. Kasasa, S. Ejobi, F. Kasaba, D. and Obua, C. (2011). Use of *Artemisia annua* L. infusion for malaria prevention: mode of action and benefits in Ugandan community. *British Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 1(4), 124-132.
- O'neill, P. M. Barton, V. E. and Ward, S. A. (2010). The molecular mechanism of action of artemisinin—the debate continues. *Molecules*, 15(3), 1705-1721.
- Onimus, M. Carteron, S. and Lutgen, P. (2013). The surprising efficiency of Artemisia annua powder capsules. Medicinal & Aromatic Plants, 2(125). Retrieved January 28, 2015 from http://omicsgroup.org/journals/the-surprising-efficiency-of-artemisia-annua-powdercapsules-2167-0412.1000125.php?aid=14844.
- Papua New Guinea. (2014). Retrieved December 30, 2014 from http://data.worldbank.org/country/papua-new-guinea.
- Perry, N. Houghton, P. Theobald, A. Jenner, P. Perry, E. (2000). *In-vitro* inhibition of human erythrocyte acetylcholinesterase by *Salvia lavandulaefolia* essential oil and constituent terpenes. *Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapeutics*, 52(12), 895–902.
- Petersen, I. Eastman, R. and Lanzer, M. (2011). Drug-resistant malaria: molecular mechanisms and implications for public health. *Elsevier*, 585(11), 1551-1562.
- Qiang, Z. Ye, Z. Hauck, C. Murphy, P. McCoy, J. Widrlechner, M. Reddy, M. and Hendrich, S. (2011). Permeability of rosmarinic acid in *Prunella vulgaris* and ursolic acid in *Salvia officinalis* extracts across Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 137(3), 1107-1112.
- Räth, U. Wang, D. Ding, Y. Xu, Y. Qi, H. Blacketer, M. Girton, J. Johansen, J. and Johansen, K. (2014). Chromator, a novel and essential chromodomain protein interacts directly with the putative spindle matrix protein skeletor. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 93(5), 1033-1047.

- Rice-Evans, C. A. Miller, N. J. and Paganga, G. (1996) Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 20(7), 933–956.
- Roberts, D. W. Rank, R. G. Weidanz, W. P. and Finerty, J. F. (1977). Prevention of recrudescent malaria in nude mice by thymic grafting or by treatment with hyperimmune serum. *Infection and Immunity*, 16(3), 821-826.
- Sachs, J. & Malaney, P. (2002). The economic and social burden of malaria. *Nature*, 415(6872), 680-685.
- Shipley, L, Davis, E. Felicetti, L, McLean, S. and Forbey, J. (2012). Mechanisms for eliminating monoterpenes in sagebrush by specialist and generalist rabbits. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 38(9), 1178–1189.
- Simonsen, J. (1957). The Terpenes (2nd edition) Vol. 2 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 105-191.
- Sjöström, H. Norén, and O. Olsen, J. (2002). Structure and function of aminopeptidase N. *Cellular peptidases in immune functions and diseases 2*. Springer, 25–34.
- Slone, J. H. & Kelsey, R. G. (1985). Isolation and purification of glandular secretory cells from Artemisia tridentata (ssp. vaseyana) by percoll density gradient centrifugation. American Journal of Botany, 72(9), 1445-1451.
- Sorensen, J. Turnbull, C. and Dearing, M. (2004). A specialist herbivore (Neotoma stephensi) absorbs fewer plant toxins than does a generalist herbivore (Neotoma albigula). *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 77(1), 139–148.
- Straimer, J. Gnädig, N. F. Witkowski, B. Amaratunga, C. Duru, V. Ramadani, A. P. Dacheux, M. Khim, N. Zhang, L. Lam, S. Gregory, P. D. Urnov, F. D. Mercereau-Puijalon, O. Benoit-Vical, F. Fairhurst, R. M. Ménard, D. and Fidock, D.A. (2015). K13-propeller mutations confer artemisinin resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum* clinical isolates. *Science*, 347(6220), 428-431.
- Suberu, J. O. Gorka, A. P. Jacobs, L. Roepe, P. D. Sullivan, N. Barker, G. C. and Lapkin, A. A. (2013). Anti-plasmodial polyvalent interactions in *Artemisia annua* L. aqueous extract–possible synergistic and resistance mechanisms. *PLOSone*, 8(11), e80790.

- Suberu, J. O. Romero-Canelon, I. Sullivan, N. Lapkin, A. A. and Barker, G. C. (2014). Comparative cytotoxicity of artemisinin and cisplatin and their interactions with chlorogenic acids in MCF7 breast cancer cells. *ChemMedChem*, 9(12), 2791-2797.
- Svensson, U. & Ashton, M. (1999). Identification of the human cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in the *in vitro* metabolism of artemisinin. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 48, 528-535.
- Takala-Harrison, S. Jacob, C. G. Arze, C. Cummings, M. P. Silva, J. C. Dondorp, A. M. Fukuda, M. M. Hien, T. T. Mayxay, M. Noedl, H. Nosten, F. Kyaw, M. P. Nhien, N. T. Imwong, M. Bethell, D. Se, Y. Lon, C. Tyner, S. D. Saunders, D. L. Ariey, F. Mercereau-Puijalon, O. Menard, D. Newton, P. N. Khanthavong, M. Hongvanthong, B. Starzengruber, P. Fuehrer, H. P. Swoboda, P. Khan, W. A. Phyo, A. P. Nyunt, M. M. Nyunt, M. H. Brown, T. S. Adams, M. Pepin, C. S. Bailey, J. Tan, J. C. Ferdig, M. T. Clark, T. G. Miotto, O. MacInnis, B. Kwiatkowski, D. P. White, N. J. Ringwald, P. and Plowe C. V. (2014). Independent emergence of artemisinin resistance mutations among *Plasmodium falciparum* in Southeast Asia. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, jiu491.
- Towler, M. & Weathers, P. (2015). Variations in key artemisinic and other metabolites throughout plant development in *Artemisis annua L*. for potential therapeutic use. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 67(2015), 185-191.
- Vachon, P. H., & Beaulieu, J. F. (1992). Transient mosaic patterns of morphological and functional differentiation in the Caco-2 cell line. *Gastroenterology*, 103(2), 414-423.
- van Agtmael, M. Eggelte, T. A. and van Boxtel, C. J. (1999). Artemisinin drugs in the treatment of malaria: from medicinal herb to registered medication. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 20(5), 199-205.
- Walle, T. Otake, Y. Walle, U. K. and Wilson, F. A. (2000). Quercetin glucosides are completely hydrolyzed in ileostomy patients before absorption. *The Journal of nutrition*, 130(11), 2658-2661.
- Wang, P.G. Xian, M. Tang, X. Wu, X. Wen, Z. Cai, T. and Janczuk J. (2002). Nitric Oxide Donors: Chemical Activities and Biological Applications. *Chemistry Review*. 102, 1091-1134.
- Weathers, P. J. Arsenault, P. Covello, P. Mcmickle, A. Teoh, K. and Reed, D. (2011). Artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua*: studies *in planta* and results of a novel

delivery method for treating malaria and other neglected diseases. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 10(2), 173-183.

- Weathers, P. J. Jordan, N. Lasin, P. and Towler, M. J. (2013). Simulated digestion of dried leaves of *Artemisia annua* consumed as a treatment (pACT) for malaria. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 151(2), 858-863.
- Weathers, P. J. Elfawal, M. Towler, M. Acquaah-Mensah, G. and Rich, S. (2014a).
  Pharmacokinetics of artemisinin delivered by oral consumption of *Artemisia annua* dried leaves in healthy vs. *Plasmodium chabaudi*-infected mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 153(3), 732-736.
- Weathers, P. J. Reed, K. Hassanali, A. Lutgen, P. and Engeu, P.O. (2014b). Chapter 4: whole plant approaches to therapeutic use of *Artemisia annua L. (Asteraceae)*. *Artemisia annua Pharmacology and Biotechnology*. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 51-74.
- Weathers, P. J. Towler, T. Hassanali, A. Lutgen, P. and Engeu, P.O. (2014c). Driedleaf Artemisia annua: A practical malaria therapeutic for developing countries?. World Journal of Pharmacology, 3(4), 39-55.
- Weathers, P. J. and Towler, M. (2012). The flavonoids casticin and artemetin are poorly extracted and are unstable in an *Artemisia annua* tea infusion. *Planta Medica*, 78(10), 1024-1026.
- Weathers, P. J. and Towler, M. (2014). Changes in key constituents of clonally propagated Artemisia annua L. during preparation of compressed leaf tablets for possible therapeutic use. Industrial Crops and Products, 62, 173-178.
- Willcox, M. Bodeker, G. Bourdy, G. Dhingra, V. Falquet, J. Ferreira, J. Graz, B. Hirt, H. Hsu, E. de Magalhães, P. Provendier, D. and Wright, C. (2004). *Artemisia annua* as a Traditional Herbal Antimalarial. *Traditional Medicinal Plants and Malaria*, 43-59. Retrieved January 29, 2015 from http://www.icei.it/attachments/VIATM/A\_annua\_as\_a\_traditional\_herbal\_antimalarial.pd f.
- World Health Organization. (2001). The use of antimalarial drugs: Report of a WHO Informal Consultation. Retrieved January 28, 2015 from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2001/WHO\_CDS\_RBM\_2001.33.pdf.

- World Health Organization. (2006). WHO monograph on good agricultural and collection practices (GACP) for Artemisia annua L. Retrieved January 28, 2015 from http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/traditional/ArtemisiaMonograph.pdf.
- World Health Organization. (2011). Global Plan for Artemisinin Resistance Containment. Retrieved January 16, 2015 from http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/atoz/9789241500838/en/.
- World Health Organization. (2012a). Management of Severe Malaria: A Practical Handbook, Third Edition. Retrieved January 1, 2015 from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/79317/1/9789241548526\_eng.pdf.
- World Health Organization. (2012b). Effectiveness of non-pharmaceutical forms of Artemisia annua L. against malaria. Retrieved January 15, 2015 from http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/atoz/position\_statement\_herbal\_remedy\_artemis ia\_annua\_l/en/.
- World Health Organization. (2013). Emergency response to artemisinin resistance in Greater Mekong subregion. Regional framework for action 2013-2015. Retrieved January 23, 2015, from http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/atoz/9789241505321/en/.
- World Health Organization. (2014). *Malaria Report 2014*. Retrieved January 23, 2015, from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/144852/2/9789241564830\_eng.pdf.
- Wu, Q. Yu, C. Yan, Y. Chen, J. Zhang, C. and Wen, X. (2010). Antiviral flavonoids from *Mosla scabra*. *Fitoterapia*, 81(5), 429-433.
- Xiaowei, S. & D'Souza, D. (2013). Naturally occurring flavonoids against human norovirus surrogates. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 5(2), 97-102.
- Zhang, X. Song, J. Shi, X. Miao, S. Li, Y. and Wen, A. (2013). Absorption and Metabolism Characteristics of Rutin in Caco-2 Cells. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2013.
- Zwang, J. Olliaro, P. Barennes, H. Bonnet, M. Brasseur, P. Bukirwa, H. Cohuet, S.
  D'Alessandro, U. Djimde, A. Karema, C. Guthmann, J. Hamour, S. Ndiaye, J.
  Martensson, A. Rwagacondo, C. Sagara, I. Same-Ekobo, A. Sirima, S. van den Broek, I.
  Yeka, A. Taylor, W. Dorsey, G. and Randrianarivelojosia, M. (2009). Efficacy of artesunate-amodiaquine for treating uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria in sub-Saharan Africa: a multi-centre analysis. *Malaria journal*, 8(1), 203-221.

## 8.0 Appendices

#### **Appendix A: Additional Introductory and Background Material**

Compound	Freshly extracted leaves (µgg <sup>-1</sup> DW)*		Dry extracted leaves (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)		
	Shoot tips	Mature leaves	2 mm sieved	Powdered leaves	
				Leaf powder	Tablets
Artemisinin	8,188.92±2,817.70a	11,380.32 ± 2,587.92b	15,897.23 ± 1,040.55x	17,306.24 ± 1,397.72y	17,180.86 ± 782.00y
Dihydroartemisinic acid	40,210.40 ± 6,414.62	nd	$1,857.43 \pm 737.22x$	$1,286.23 \pm 205.24x$	369.04 ± 32.00y
Arteannuin B	nd	$96.76 \pm 183.52$	$2,323.12 \pm 246.97x$	$2,460.68 \pm 246.86x$	$2,450.95 \pm 202.63x$
Artemisinic acid	$2,209.12 \pm 449.88$	nd	$367.39 \pm 45.81x$	$345.30 \pm 57.04x$	$1,328.84 \pm 546.39y$
α-Pinene	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Eucalyptol (1,8 cineole)	$1,101.64 \pm 106.39a$	$301.72 \pm 51.52b$	$261.16 \pm 42.35x$	$278.31 \pm 44.34x$	nd
Camphor	$10,121.24 \pm 1,141.62a$	3,569.88 ± 318.76b	$21,017.68 \pm 1,600.64x$	16,671.84 ± 1,260.17y	$1,870.23 \pm 214.98z$
Chlorogenic acid	$10,839.65 \pm 3,004.50a$	$6,473.12 \pm 981.72b$	$673.37 \pm 138.64x$	2,735.68 ± 487.12y	5,217.48 ± 528.44z
Rosmarinic acid#	nd	nd	2,261.19 ± 3,414.68#	nd	nd
Scopoletin	$5,516.05 \pm 905.12a$	$1,319.44 \pm 454.96b$	$36.08 \pm 16.43x$	84.44 ± 47.58x,y	$139.27 \pm 47.22y$
Artemetin	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Casticin	$10.67 \pm 28.92$	nd	nd	nd	nd
Chrysoplenol-D	$703.48 \pm 201.90a$	$211.063 \pm 99.44b$	$413.43 \pm 56.59x$	$402.35 \pm 30.55 x$	$323.21 \pm 28.61y$
Chrysoplenetin	$310.10 \pm 76.13a$	$83.62 \pm 40.67b$	$153.88 \pm 23.95x$	$154.69 \pm 13.41x$	$153.87 \pm 11.26x$
Eupatorin	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Kaempferol	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Luteolin#	nd	nd	206.61 ± 294.38#	$128.39 \pm 183.09 \#$	nd
Myricetin	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Quercetin	nd	nd	nd	$8.64 \pm 0.55 x$	$7.13 \pm 4.25x$
Total flavonoids (AlCl3 method)	$6,058.77 \pm 419.96a$	$1,554.28 \pm 439.60b$	$2,782.51 \pm 274.19x$	$5,047.18 \pm 671.02y$	$10,\!967.78\pm 656.35z$

#### Table A 1: Key A. annua compounds from SAM leaves harvest (Weathers & Towler, 2014)

Each value in the table is the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (*n*=4–6). Letters within a row indicate statistically significant data with a,b for fresh leaves and x,y,z for sieved/ground/tableted;  $p \le 0.05$ ; nd, not detectable; \*DW calculated using DW/FW ratio of 0.25; #, only two of six replicates had rosmarinic acid or luteolin; shown is average of all 6 samples. DW, dry weight.
# Table A 2: Molecular weight and MSDS links for compounds used in transport experiments

Compound	MW (g/mol)	MSDS from Sigma-Aldrich
Artemisinin	282.33	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=361593&brand=SIGMA&PageToGoToURL =http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Fsigma %2F361593%3Flang%3Den
Quercetin	302.24	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=Q4951&brand=SIGMA&PageToGoToURL =http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Fsigma %2Fq4951%3Flang%3Den
Rutin	610.52	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=R5143&brand=SIGMA&PageToGoToURL =http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Fsigma %2Fr5143%3Flang%3Den
Chlorogenic Acid	354.31	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=C3878&brand=ALDRICH&PageToGoToU RL=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Faldri ch%2Fc3878%3Flang%3Den
Rosmarinic Acid	360.31	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=536954&brand=ALDRICH&PageToGoToU RL=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Faldri ch%2F536954%3Flang%3Den
Camphor	152.23	http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=U S&language=en&productNumber=148075&brand=ALDRICH&PageToGoToU RL=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sigmaaldrich.com%2Fcatalog%2Fproduct%2Faldri ch%2F148075%3Flang%3Den

### **Appendix B: Methods**

#### **Standard Operating Procedure for Caco-2 Transwell Plate**

This SOP was adapted from the Determination of drug permeability and prediction of drug absorption in Caco-2 monolayers available from Hubatsch et al. (2007) and Thawing, Propagating, and Cryopreserving Protocol from the American Type Culture Collection (2012). Caco-2 cells work well in absorption systems because, when fully confluent, they have the ability to form tight junctions. The following steps are used to prepare a transwell transport plate by seeding the appropriate concentration of Caco-2 cells.

#### A. Maintaining stock cells

- 1. Place complete media in 37°C water bath until warm
- 2. Remove T75 flask of stock cells from 37°C incubator
- 3. Aspirate media from flask
- 4. Add 12 mL of warmed, complete media into the flask

#### **B.** Seeding cells on transwell inserts

- 1. Obtain T75 flask of stock cells when ~90% confluent and aspirate media
- 2. Remove any remaining media by washing flask with 3-5 mL of HBSS; then aspirate
- Add 3-5 mL of Tryp-LE to flask and incubate at 37°C for 15-30 minutes, or until the cell layer dissociates from the flask bottom
- 4. Immediately stop trypsinization by adding 8-10 mL of complete media to flask
- 5. Transfer the suspension to a 15 mL conical tube and centrifuge on 1,500 rpms for 3 minutes
- 6. Aspirate off media until just above the cell pellet and resuspend in 2 mL of new media
- 7. Perform a cell and viability count (must be at least 95% viable) using hemacytometer
- 8. Calculate volume of cell suspension and complete media needed to obtain a concentration of  $6.0 * 10^5$  cells/mL and mix together
  - a. Example: You do a cell count and find you have 7.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL, in a total of 2 mL of suspension. You want to seed 3 wells (0.5 mL/well), but calculate for 4 wells to account for mistakes (2 mL). The final cell concentration you are aiming

for is 6.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL. This way you will have 3 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells in each well (the density called for in the Nature Methods paper). Given the equation,  $C_1V_1=C_2V_2$ : (7.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL)( $V_1$ ) = (6.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL)(2 mL).  $V_1$  = 0.58 mL, so you need 0.58 mL of cell suspension and 1.42 mL of media to make 2 mL of cell suspension at a concentration of 6.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL for seeding.

- 9. Place transwell filter inserts into wells of 24-well plate
- 10. Wet each filter with 0.1 mL of complete media for ~2 minutes
- 11. Pipette 0.5 mL of cell suspension in each well, such that there is 300,000 cells/well.

\* Be sure to appropriately resuspend cells in medium by pipetting media against the bottom surface of the tube – visually check tube to ensure no cells are still attached. Try to

- 12. Fill each basolateral compartment with 1.5 mL of complete media
- 13. Cover and incubate for 6-16 hours (no longer)

#### C. Maintaining cells on transwell filter inserts

- 1. After 6-10 hours post seeding, aspirate basolateral media (lower chamber)
- 2. Aspirate media from apical media (upper chamber)
- Replace apical side with 0.5 mL of complete media and then basolateral side with 1.5 mL of complete media

\* Important this is done to remove dead cells, debris, and aggregates that may cause multilayered growth

- Change media every 2-3 days by aspirating basolateral then apical; then adding 0.5 and
   1.5 mL of complete media to apical then basolateral side
- 5. Repeat Step 4, until cells ready for transport experiment, 21-29 days

### **Standard Operation Procedure for Transport Experiment**

This SOP was modified from the Determination of drug permeability and prediction of drug absorption in Caco-2 monolayers, available from Hubatsch et al., (2007). To complete all parts of the transport experiment and GC/MS preparation, it takes about 6 hours.

#### A. Final Caco-2 monolayer preparation

- 1. 12-24 hours before the experiment, change the culture medium
   \* No longer than this period to avoid adaption into a more starved phenotype
- 2. Aspirate basolateral then apical side
- 3. Add 0.5 and 1.5 mL of complete to apical then basolateral side
- 4. Prior to beginning transport, wash the transwell filters by transferring monolayers into new 12-well plate containing 1.5 mL of HBSS in the basolateral compartments and carefully transfer 0.5 mL of HBSS into the apical sides
- 5. Cover and incubate transwell plate under gentle shaking for 15-20 min at 37°C
- 6. Set aside until needed for transport

#### **B. TEER Protocol**

- 1. Place the transwell inserts in new 12-well plate containing 1.5 mL of HBSS in the basolateral compartments and carefully transfer 0.5 mL of HBSS into the apical sides
- 2. Place TEER meter probe into each well: short probe in apical side and long probe in the basolateralside
- 3. Record reading in (ohms)
- 4. Separately, record reading of transwell insert without cells, for use in calculating TEER value

#### C. Apical-to-basolateral transport experiment

 Remove washing solution from transwell plate by decanting and transfer inserts into new 12-well plate with 1.5 mL of HBSS in the basolateral compartment

- Add 0.5 mL of donor solution to the corresponding apical compartment (t=0), as well as put 0.5 mL aside in a vial
- 3. Cover plate and incubate at 37°C on an orbital shaker at 300-400 r.p.m. to minimize the effects of unstirred water
- After 15 min remove plate from incubator and transfer the transwell inserts into new 12well plate with 1.5 mL of HBSS in the basolateral compartment to maintain sink conditions
- 5. Return covered plate to incubator at 37°C on an orbital shaker at 300-400 r.p.m
- 6. Use Pasteur pipet to transfer contents of basolateral compartment into a vial
- 7. Repeat Steps 4-6 every 15 min until 60 min time point is reached
- 8. At 60 min, use Pasteur pipet to transfer contents of apical compartment into a vial, as well as transfer contents of the basolateral compartment into a separate vial

#### **D.** Lysing Cells

- 1. After measuring the TEER value, add 0.25 mL of Tryp-LE to the apical compartment and cover
- Incubate the plate at 37°C on an orbital shaker at 300-400 r.p.m. for 15-30 min or until cell layer becomes dissociated from the filter
- 3. Remove from incubator
- 4. Add 0.25 mL of HBSS to apical side and 1 mL to basolateral side
- 5. Use Pasteur pipet to transfer contents of apical and basolateral into the same vial

#### **E.** Extraction of artemisinin

- 1. To each vial add equal parts methylene chloride and vortex sample
- 2. Cover with Dura Seal and sonicate in a sonicating water bath for 30 min
- 3. Pipette the methylene chloride and artemisinin layer (bottom layer) into a new vial
- 4. Nitrogen dry samples to remove any HBSS
- 5. Resuspend samples in 100-200  $\mu$ L of methylene chloride and transfer contents into GC/MS tube
- 6. Resuspend sample in 50 µL of pentane prior to insertion into GC/MS

### **Appendix C: Supplemental Results, Figures and Tables**

	Prior to Tranp	ort Experiment	t	After Transpo	After Transport Experiment			
Sample	$R(\Omega)^1$	$R - R_b (\Omega)^2$	TEER value	R (Ω)	$R - R_{b}(\Omega)$	TEER value		
			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)^3$			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)$		
AN1	477	383	428.96	252	158	176.96		
AN2	511	417	467.04	500	406	454.72		
AN3	470	376	421.12	435	341	381.92		
AN4	475	381	426.72	477	383	428.96		
AN+Q1	506	412	461.44	556	462	517.44		
AN+Q2	513	419	469.28	526	432	483.84		
AN+Q3	511	417	467.04	505	411	460.32		
AN+Q4	508	414	463.68	541	447	500.64		
AN+R1	478	384	430.08	518	424	474.88		
AN+R2	491	397	444.64	400	306	342.72		
AN+R3	472	378	423.36	330	236	264.32		
AN+R4	483	389	435.68	363	269	301.28		
$^{1}$ R is the raw voltage value of the sample obtained from the TEER instrument $^{2}$ R, is the raw voltage value of the transwell insert without any cells [obtained from the TEER instrument]								

#### Table C 1: TEER values for Caco-2 monolayers prior and after quercetin and rutin transport experiment

<sup>3</sup> TEER value =  $(R-R_b) * A$ , where A is the area of the filter

Fable C 2: TEER values for Caco-2 monolayers prior to chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid
ransport experiment

	Prior to Tranport Experiment							
Sample	$R(\Omega)^1$	$R - R_b (\Omega)^2$	TEER value					
			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)^3$					
AN1	482	388	434.56					
AN2	471	377	422.24					
AN3	502	408	456.96					
AN+CA1	489	395	442.4					
AN+CA2	490	396	443.52					
AN+CA3	499	405	453.6					
AN+RA1	492	398	445.76					
AN+RA2	470	376	421.12					
AN+RA3	505	411	460.32					
AN+CA+RA1	478	384	430.08					
AN+CA+RA2	454	360	403.2					
AN+CA+RA3	492	398	445.76					
<sup>1</sup> R is the raw voltage val	$^{1}$ R is the raw voltage value of the sample obtained from the TEER instrument							

 $^{2}$  R<sub>b</sub> is the raw voltage value of the transwell insert without any cells [obtained from the TEER] This the raw voltage value of the distance of the filter instrument] <sup>3</sup> TEER value = (R-R<sub>b</sub>) \* A, where A is the area of the filter \*Note that TEER was not taken after this experiment.

	Prior to Transport Experiment					
Sample	$R(\Omega)^1$	$R - R_b (\Omega)^2$	TEER value			
_			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)^3$			
AN1	337	243	272.16			
AN2	344	250	280			
AN3	373	279	312.48			
AN1:CA1-1	348	254	284.48			
AN1:CA1-2	356	262	293.44			
AN1:CA1-3	364	270	302.4			
AN2:CA1-1	374	280	313.6			
AN2:CA1-2	359	265	296.8			
AN2:CA1-3	347	253	283.36			
AN3:CA1-1	330	236	264.32			
AN3:CA1-2	342	248	277.76			
AN3:CA1-3	367	273	305.76			
<sup>1</sup> R is the raw voltage value of the sample obtained from the TEER instrument						

Table C 3: TEER values for Caco-2 monolayers prior to chlorogenic acid concentration series transport experiment

<sup>2</sup> R<sub>b</sub> is the raw voltage value of the transwell insert without any cells [obtained from the TEER instrument]

 $^3$  TEER value = (R-R<sub>b</sub>) \* A , where A is the area of the filter \*Note that TEER was not taken after this experiment.

## Table C 4: TEER values for Caco-2 monolayers prior to camphor concentration series transport experiment

	Prior to Transport Experiment			After Transport Experiment				
Sample	$R(\Omega)^1$	$R - R_b (\Omega)^2$	TEER value	R (Ω)	$R - R_b(\Omega)$	TEER value		
_			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)^3$			$(\Omega^* \text{cm}^2)$		
AN1	348	254	284.48	322	228	255.36		
AN2	353	259	290.08	290	196	219.52		
AN3	362	268	300.16	320	226	253.12		
AN1:C1-1	340	246	275.52	328	234	262.08		
AN1:C1-2	355	261	292.32	375	281	314.72		
AN1:C1-3	309	215	240.8	300	206	230.72		
AN1:C0.05-1	361	267	299.04	314	220	246.4		
AN1:C0.05-2	348	254	284.48	338	244	273.28		
AN1:C0.05-3	359	265	296.8	335	241	269.92		
AN1:C0.01-1	324	230	257.6	330	236	264.32		
AN1:C0.01-2	335	241	269.92	322	228	255.36		
AN1:C0.01-3	349	255	285.6	331	237	265.44		
$^{1}$ R is the raw voltage value of the sample obtained from the TEER instrument								

 ${}^{2}$  R<sub>b</sub> is the raw voltage value of the transwell insert without any cells [obtained from the TEER instrument]  ${}^{3}$  TEER value = (R-R<sub>b</sub>) \* A , where A is the area of the filter

AN content per sample (µg)								
Sample	Row A	Row B	Row C	Row D	Ave.	STD.	STD. Error	
AN								
Donor Solution	8.92	8.92	8.92	8.92	8.92	0.00	0.00	
15 min	1.23	1.16	1.81	2.33	1.63	0.55	0.27	
30 min	1.02	1.84	3.27	0.82	1.74	1.11	0.56	
45 min	0.56	0.82	1.26	0.32	0.74	0.40	0.20	
60 min	0.90	0.60	0.95	0.17	0.66	0.36	0.18	
Apical post	1.67	1.76	4.77	0.38	2.15	1.86	0.93	
Cells post	0.40	0.08	0.11	0.03	0.16	0.17	0.08	
Total collected	5.78	6.26	12.17	4.05	7.07	3.53	1.77	
AN+Q								
Donor Solution	10.94	10.94	10.94	10.94	10.94	0.00	0.00	
15 min	2.35	2.88	2.91	3.30	2.86	0.39	0.20	
30 min	1.58	2.44	2.98	2.63	2.41	0.60	0.30	
45 min	1.66	1.52	1.25	1.41	1.46	0.17	0.09	
60 min	1.14	0.75	0.97	0.61	0.87	0.24	0.12	
Apical post	1.76	2.18	2.14	1.98	2.01	0.19	0.09	
Cells post	0.12	0.09	0.46	0.18	0.21	0.17	0.08	
Total collected	8.60	9.85	10.70	10.11	9.82	0.88	0.44	
AN+R								
Donor Solution	14.59	14.59	14.59	14.59	14.59	0.00	0.00	
15 min	1.64	1.80	2.54	3.33	2.33	0.77	0.39	
30 min	1.59	1.73	2.27	3.36	2.24	0.81	0.40	
45 min	1.07	1.00	0.81	2.31	1.30	0.68	0.34	
60 min	0.92	0.85	0.71	0.78	0.82	0.09	0.05	
Apical post	1.98	1.41	1.80	2.01	1.80	0.28	0.14	
Cells post	0.10	0.06	0.06	0.11	0.08	0.03	0.01	
Total collected	7.30	6.84	8.19	11.90	8.56	2.30	1.15	

Table C 5: Artemisinin content ( $\mu g$ ) per well from quercetin and rutin experiment

AN content per sample (µg)							
Sample	Row A	Row B	Row C	Ave.	STD.	STD. Error	
AN							
Donor Solution	21.31	21.31	21.31	21.31	0.00	0.00	
15 min	6.82	4.65	4.80	5.42	1.21	0.70	
30 min	1.64	2.25	1.76	1.88	0.32	0.18	
45 min	1.60	0.98	1.12	1.23	0.33	0.19	
60 min	1.19	1.47	1.45	1.37	0.16	0.09	
Apical post	3.18	2.62	3.18	2.99	0.32	0.19	
Cells post	0.07	0.06	0.07	0.06	0.01	0.00	
Total collected	14.50	12.01	12.37	12.96	1.35	0.78	
AN+CA	•	•	•	•			
Donor Solution	24.31	24.31	24.31	24.31	0.00	0.00	
15 min	7.02	5.17	3.82	5.34	1.61	0.93	
30 min	1.77	1.98	1.42	1.72	0.28	0.16	
45 min	2.02	0.76	2.04	1.61	0.74	0.43	
60 min	1.48	1.13	1.42	1.34	0.19	0.11	
Apical post	3.17	1.76	2.41	2.45	0.71	0.41	
Cells post	0.08	0.10	0.13	0.10	0.03	0.02	
Total collected	15.56	10.90	11.24	12.57	2.60	1.50	
AN+RA							
Donor Solution	25.09	25.09	25.09	25.09	0.00	0.00	
15 min	3.53	4.12	5.52	4.39	1.02	0.59	
30 min	3.53	2.35	1.80	2.56	0.88	0.51	
45 min	1.51	1.41	1.43	1.45	0.05	0.03	
60 min	1.66	1.18	0.90	1.25	0.38	0.22	
Apical post	1.07	2.18	2.43	1.90	0.72	0.42	
Cells post	3.20	0.06	0.12	1.13	1.80	1.04	
Total collected	14.49	11.29	12.21	12.66	1.65	0.95	
AN+CA+RA							
Donor Solution	14.03	14.03	14.03	14.03	0.00	0.00	
15 min	3.91	4.12	3.10	3.71	0.54	0.31	
30 min	1.48	3.23	1.30	2.00	1.06	0.61	
45 min	1.32	0.96	0.97	1.08	0.21	0.12	
60 min	0.73	1.15	0.77	0.88	0.23	0.13	
Apical post	1.94	3.26	0.88	2.03	1.19	0.69	
Cells post	0.10	0.07	0.05	0.07	0.02	0.01	
Total collected	9.49	12.78	7.07	9.78	2.87	1.66	

Table C 6: Artemisinin content  $(\mu g)$  per well from chlorogenic and rosmarinic acid experiment

AN content per sample	AN content per sample (µg)							
Sample	Row A	Row B	Row C	Ave.	STD.	STD. Error		
AN								
Donor Solution	8.11	8.11	8.11	8.11	0.00	0.00		
15 min	1.05	0.37	1.01	0.81	0.38	0.22		
30 min	1.69	1.20	0.68	1.19	0.51	0.29		
45 min	1.49	0.78	1.05	1.11	0.36	0.21		
60 min	0.09	0.36	0.90	0.45	0.41	0.24		
Apical post	0.09	1.28	2.34	1.24	1.13	0.65		
Total collected	4.41	3.99	5.98	4.80	1.05	0.60		
AN+CA 1:1								
Donor Solution	8.95	8.95	8.95	8.95	0.00	0.00		
15 min	0.35	0.71	1.76	0.94	0.73	0.42		
30 min	1.19	0.67	1.34	1.06	0.35	0.20		
45 min	0.76	0.53	1.94	1.08	0.76	0.44		
60 min	0.16	0.27	1.00	0.48	0.45	0.26		
Apical post	0.43	0.52	3.82	1.59	1.93	1.12		
Total collected	2.90	2.70	9.86	5.15	4.08	2.36		
AN+CA 2:1								
Donor Solution	6.04	6.04	6.04	6.04	0.00	0.00		
15 min	0.93	1.21	2.60	1.58	0.90	0.52		
30 min	0.66	1.62	1.26	1.18	0.49	0.28		
45 min	0.64	1.68	0.30	0.87	0.72	0.42		
60 min	0.07	0.47	1.04	0.53	0.49	0.28		
Apical post	0.38	2.01	3.35	1.91	1.49	0.86		
Total collected	2.68	7.00	8.55	6.08	3.04	1.76		
AN+CA 3:1						·		
Donor Solution	5.89	5.89	5.89	5.89	0.00	0.00		
15 min	2.21	0.73	0.56	1.16	0.91	0.52		
30 min	1.10	0.72	1.13	0.98	0.23	0.13		
45 min	0.42	0.78	0.74	0.65	0.20	0.11		
60 min	0.23	0.41	0.56	0.40	0.17	0.10		
Apical post	0.51	1.38	3.93	1.94	1.78	1.03		
Total collected	4.47	4.01	6.92	5.13	1.56	0.90		

# Table C 7: Artemisinin content $(\mu g)$ per well from chlorogenic acid concentration series experiment

AN content per sample (µg)								
Sample	Row A	Row B	Row C	Ave.	STD.	STD. Error		
AN								
Donor Solution	13.89	13.89	13.89	13.89	0.00	0.00		
15 min	3.44	3.00	4.72	3.72	0.89	0.52		
30 min	2.74	2.11	1.83	2.23	0.47	0.27		
45 min	2.13	1.13	0.84	1.37	0.68	0.39		
60 min	1.36	2.29	0.34	1.33	0.98	0.56		
Apical post	3.40	7.50	1.77	4.23	2.95	1.71		
Total collected	13.08	16.04	9.50	12.87	3.27	1.89		
AN+C 1:1								
Donor Solution	19.20	19.20	19.20	19.20	0.00	0.00		
15 min	4.07	5.29	3.42	4.26	0.95	0.55		
30 min	3.70	3.26	1.99	2.98	0.89	0.51		
45 min	1.53	2.47	3.03	2.35	0.76	0.44		
60 min	2.87	1.57	3.70	2.71	1.07	0.62		
Apical post	11.98	12.80	13.72	12.84	0.87	0.50		
Total collected	24.15	25.40	25.86	25.14	0.88	0.51		
AN+C 2:1								
Donor Solution	20.04	20.04	20.04	20.04	0.00	0.00		
15 min	3.65	3.74	2.30	3.23	0.80	0.46		
30 min	1.59	1.96	2.15	1.90	0.28	0.16		
45 min	2.29	0.72	2.60	1.87	1.01	0.58		
60 min	1.71	6.26	1.98	3.31	2.55	1.47		
Apical post	7.96	1.25	3.72	4.31	3.40	1.96		
Total collected	17.20	13.92	12.75	14.63	2.31	1.33		
AN+C 10:1								
Donor Solution	12.79	12.79	12.79	12.79	0.00	0.00		
15 min	6.38	1.74	3.07	3.73	2.39	1.38		
30 min	2.81	4.57	1.30	2.89	1.64	0.95		
45 min	1.21	2.18	2.46	1.95	0.66	0.38		
60 min	1.50	2.23	2.02	1.92	0.37	0.22		
Apical post	7.61	12.99	6.95	9.18	3.31	1.91		
Total collected	19.51	23.71	15.81	19.68	3.96	2.28		

Table C 8: Artemisinin content ( $\mu g)$  per well from camphor concentration series experiment

		AN+C
	AN	10:1
Mean	52.16145913	65.78048
Variance	17.50902152	84.93522
Observations	3	3
Pearson Correlation	0.987379258	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	2	
t Stat	-4.60048336	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.022071974	
t Critical one-tail	2.91998558	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.044143948	
t Critical two-tail	4.30265273	

Table C 9: Student t-test: paired two sample comparing means of AN with AN:C of 10:1



**Figure C 1:**  $P_{app}$  with varied artemisinin concentration in donor solutions. From each transport experiment, the AN concentration in donor solutions varied. To determine the role of AN concentration on rate of transport, all control (AN only)  $P_{app}$ s were plotted. The polynomial curve fit the points best with a low  $R^2$  of 0.2655. From this figure, the concentration of AN can be used to approximate the rate of transport.

Table C 10: ANOVA single factor between  $P_{app}$  from all control transport experiments as plotted in Figure C 1.

SUMMARY						
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance		
63.17269	3	0.000164	5.45E-05	3.54E-11		
150.9236	3	0.000173	5.77E-05	4.65E-11		
57.43839	3	0.000163	5.44E-05	1.53E-10		
98.38355	3	0.000232	7.72E-05	7.59E-11		
ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	1.08E-09	3	3.6E-10	4.635748	0.036788	4.066181
Within Groups	6.21E-10	8	7.76E-11			
Total	1.7E-09	11				